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COMPANY PROFILE
NEIEIT

Chaowei Power Holdings Limited (the “Company”together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is
principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of lead-acid motive batteries, lithium-ion
batteries and other related products. These batteries are widely used in electric bikes, electric
tricycles and special-purpose electric vehicles.

Headquartered in Changxing, Zhejiang Province, the Group’s manufacturing facilities are
strategically located in regions with higher demand for lead-acid motive batteries, including
Shandong, Jiangsu, Henan, Zhejiang, Anhui, Jiangxi and Hebei Provinces in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC" or “China”).

The primary market of the Group features top electric bike manufacturers and its secondary
market is supported by a nationwide distribution network covering all provinces in the PRC. For
the primary market, the Group supplies original batteries to most of the well-known electric bike
manufacturers in the PRC. The Group has achieved total cadmium-free production by the end of
2013, in fulfillment of its corporate social responsibility as a green enterprise.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
o A B #H

PLACE OF LISTING
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

STOCK CODE
00951

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Mingming (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhou Longrui

Ms. Yang Yunfei

Mr. Yang Xinxin

Non-executive Director
Ms. Fang Jianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jigiang

Prof. Ouyang Minggao

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai

Mr. Ng Chi Kit

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Jigiang

Prof. Ouyang Minggao

Mr. Ng Chi Kit

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Zhou Mingming

Mr. Wang Jigiang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhou Mingming (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jigiang

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Leung Wai Yip CPA

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Zhou Mingming
Mr. Leung Wai Yip CPA

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O.Box 31119 Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No. 18, Chengnan Road, Huaxi Industrial Function Area

Changxing County

Zhejiang Province, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Unit 1308A, 13/F, Lippo Sun Plaza

28 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Construction Bank, Changxing Jie Fang Dong Road Sub-branch
Agricultural Bank of China, Changxing County Sub-branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Changxing County Sub-branch
Bank of China, Changxing County Sub-branch

LEGAL ADVISERS
As to Hong Kong law
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius

As to PRC law
Zhejiang S&P Law Firm

As to Cayman Islands law
Conyers Dill & Pearman
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AUDITOR
Ernst & Young
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3

Building D, P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court, Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100, Cayman Islands

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.chaowei.com.hk
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MERE

CONSOLIDATED (RMB'000) e ARETT)
For the year ended
31 December
HE+_A=1t—HI%E
0 2021
—E-—F
000 RMB"000
2 AREEFIT
Revenue WA 31,930,551 29,488,819
Gross profit EF 3,701,517 3,324,497
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company A2 &) & A 1S 417,181 516,269
Earnings per share — Basic and diluted FRAEF -EARNEE RMB0.38 RMB0.47
AR®o3sT | ARW¥o0477T
Proposed final dividend per share BEERARARE HK$0.066 HK$0.087
0.066 & T 0.087 87T
REVENUE (RMB in million) WA ARETET)
e
ﬂ
29,489
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY PRODUCT WARERES

(RMB in million Proportion of Total Revenue)

Li-ion Battery

BEETE
1.14% 362
0.83% 246

Electric Bike Battery
EPETEED
60.98% 195471 _

54.39% 16038
ET

Q

(AR BB TEAYALD)

Electric Vehicle Battery and Special-purpose

Electric Vehicle Battery
EHBEERHAAREDER

_ 8463  26.50%
8187 27.76%
Others
HAl

3634 11.38%

2022

5017 17.02%

i 2021
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OUTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENTS
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GARNERING AWARDS FOR
OUTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENTS
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHES

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors” or each the
“Director”) of the Company, | am pleased to present to shareholders the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Year”).

During the Year, the Group maintained steady business growth and
achieved better results by leveraging its technological innovation, sound
business strategy and management resilience, and, as a result:

10

Revenue for the Year reached approximately RMB31,931 million.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB417 million.

With its comprehensive strengths and industry influence in the field
of new energy, the Group was listed in “Top 500 Chinese Enterprises”
(R 2 50054), "Top 500 Chinese Private-owned Enterprises” (FF
R &t 3£50058), “Top 500 Chinese Energy Enterprises (Group)”
(Hh gt R 1 % (% [E)50058), “"Fortune Top 500 Chinese
Companies” ({ Bf & ) # B 5005%), “Global Top 500 New Energy
Enterprises” (& BK %1 82 JR 1 2 50058 ) and “China’s Top 500 New
Economy Enterprises” (A7 B 7 48 & 1 350058 ), and was once
again included in the list of “China Top 500 Machinery Companies”
(PR B # 1 50058 ). The Group was ranked the seventh among the
"Top 100 Enterprises in China’s Light Industry” (A Bl &8 T 3 H a8
%) and the first among the “Top 10 Enterprises of New Energy
Battery Industry in China’s Light Industry” (7 BI &% T 22 #7852 R &t
1TE 58> Z) for the tenth consecutive year. Meanwhile, with its
remarkable brand influence, the Group was again listed in the “China
Brand Valuation List" (9 B &n h# {B B %) in the Year, highlighting
the Group's brand image as an industry leader.
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The Group's outstanding research and development (“R&D") and
innovation capabilities and intellectual property management
strengths have been certified by authoritative institutions and
successfully passed the “National Model Enterprise of Intellectual
Property” (Bl R Z138 = #E R 1> %) review.

The Group’s business maintained a steady growth during the Year, as the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC" or “China”") gross domestic product
(GDP) achieved a positive growth of 3% despite the recurring COVID-19
pandemic (the “Pandemic”), coupled with the demand for upgrading and
replacement of electric bikes and electric tricycles in multiple application
scenarios. The successive implementation of the "Safety Technical
Specifications for Electric Bicycles” (( B &) B 1T B &2 2 F T 45 # ) (the
"New National Standards” (¥7BI1Z)) and other regulatory policies required
by the PRC government in various provinces and cities across the country
will help guide the standardised development of the industry and
significantly benefit the leading enterprises.

During the Year, the Group leveraged its outstanding technological
strengths and excellent product quality to promote the sustainable and
stable development of its lead-acid motive battery business while
developing other new products and technologies. The Group also
continued to deepen its distribution network, enhance its brand building
and increase its brand influence.

In addition, technological innovation is an important support to promote
high-quality development. The Group seized the opportunity of the “dual
carbon” strategy, actively integrated into the new development landscape,
focused on core technology and product R&D, brought in world-class
talents, improved product competitiveness through technological
innovation, manufacturing innovation and management model innovation,
and led and driven the high-quality development of the battery industry.

On behalf of the Group, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all
shareholders, customers and business partners for their long-term trust and
support. | would also like to thank the Board, the management and all
employees for their outstanding contributions. As 2023 marks the 25th
anniversary of the Group's establishment, we will be more determined
than ever to fulfill our mission of “getting the world to use ‘CHILWEE"s
green energy”, while continuing to navigate challenges and go above and
beyond. The Group will move forward in a pragmatic manner, striving for
excellence with the ultimate aim of achieving a brilliant performance to
bring shareholders more lucrative returns.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
FEEAMER DM

Strategically located production facilities
to seize market opportunities

R E BB G TH R

The Group's production facilities have been
strategically located in regions with higher
demand of lead-acid motive batteries
REEREERBREZ D HRIEE HE
ME KBS ORI -

Jiangxi
L

Zhejiang
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of lead-acid
motive batteries, lithium-ion batteries and other related products, which
are primarily used in electric bikes, electric tricycles and special-purpose
electric vehicles.

During the Year, the Group's total revenue increased by approximately
8.3% to approximately RMB31,931 million (2021: approximately RMB29,489
million). The Group's gross profit increased by approximately 11.3% to
approximately RMB3,702 million (2021: approximately RMB3,324 million).
The Group's overall gross profit margin swelled to approximately 11.6%
(2021: approximately 11.3%). Profit attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately RMB417 million (2021: approximately RMB516 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 19.2%.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Electric bikes used in various scenarios driving continuous
market growth

As an important means of transportation in the PRC, electric bikes have
long won the favor of consumers with such advantages as being green
and environmentally-friendly, good value for money and less prone to be
caught in traffic jams, and have been widely used for personal travel and
on-demand delivery. Market research data shows that there are 500 million
daily users of takeaway and fresh food delivery services and more than 4
million on-demand delivery riders who use electric bikes to meet the
demands for home delivery services in the PRC. During the Year, with the
PRC government implementing the New National Standards in various
provinces and cities, replacement demand for electric bikes prevailed.
Furthermore, affected by the Pandemic, more people opted for electric
bikes as their transport so as to meet the needs for healthy travel, which
also helped drive growth of electric bike sales. According to the data of
China Bicycle Association, the sales of electric bike in the PRC was
approximately 50 million units in 2022, and ownership of electric bikes in
the PRC reached 350 million units.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FEEAMER DM

Strengthening regulation of electric tricycles conducive to
industry upgrade and integration

With the Pandemic fuelling rapid development of the e-commerce and
logistics industries in China, delivery demand has grown and electric
tricycles, large electric tricycles and special-purpose vehicles have become
the main carriers in short-haul distribution logistics. In light of that, the
country has strengthened supervision of the electric tricycle market, with a
good number of provinces and cities gradually introducing new
regulations. During the Year, Zhejiang Province launched the “Zhepin
Code” (4 @@ %), a QR code for scanning to obtain relevant information
including the completed vehicle, battery used and the owner of licensed
electric tricycles. Beijing subsequently announced the “one vehicle, one
battery and one code” (— # — i — #5) policy, specifying that non-
compliant electric tricycles and electric four-wheelers will not be permitted
to run on the road starting from 1 January 2024. The new policy will help
drive replacement demand for electric tricycles, oust non-compliant and
unqualified electric tricycle enterprises and speed up industry
consolidation.

Lead-acid motive batteries market remained stable

Lead-acid motive batteries, which are widely used in the electric bike
sector, are the mainstream product in the market. With consumers of
electric bikes, electric tricycles and electric four-wheelers for the elderly
being more price sensitive, and lead-acid motive batteries boasting such
advantages as high cost effectiveness, excellent safety and stability, wide
range of applications and high recyclability, their market share and sales
volume will remain steady. In addition, the batteries have a two-to-three-
year replacement cycle, which means that the replacement market is huge
and is braced by stable demand.

Industry policies favouring leading enterprises

The New National Standards have been effective officially since 15 April
2019, imposing higher overall safety performance requirements on electric
bikes and their batteries, strictly regulating the production specifications
and riding of electric bikes nationwide. Non-compliant electric bikes are
given a three-to-five-year transition period to be replaced after which they
will be barred from the road. Stepping into 2023, the transition period will
expire successively in different places across China, which will push up
further electric bike replacement demand, plus the New National Standards
raising the technical barriers of the industry in the country, leading
enterprises will benefit notably.

The “Collective Standard Regarding Food Delivery Vehicles Part 1: Food
Delivery Electric Bicycles’ K /NEHEREBEFE 185 - INEEBHHITH)
B BB 12 2E) was issued by the China Bicycle Association, which was officially
implemented on 1 September 2021. This standard clarifies the relevant
standards and requirements for food delivery electric bikes and their
batteries, and provides significant support for the upgrade and
replacement of electric bikes for food delivery.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Steady development of battery business

Lead-acid motive battery is the Group's core product. Affording excellent
technological strength and superior product quality, the Group has
maintained leadership in the lead-acid motive battery industry and stable
business development. Revenue from sales of lead-acid motive batteries
for the Year increased by 15.3% to approximately RMB27,934 million,
accounting for approximately 87.5% of the Group's total revenue. Revenue
from sales of electric bike batteries climbed by 21.4% to approximately
RMB19,471 million, accounting for approximately 61% of the Group's total
revenue, and revenue from sales of electric tricycle batteries and special-
purpose electric vehicle batteries increased by 3.4% to approximately
RMB8,463 million, making up approximately 26.5% of the Group's total
revenue.

The Group also sells lithium-ion battery products, reflective of its approach
of pursuing multi-technology side-by-side and independent R&D, plus
high-end cooperation with international and domestic partners. As such, it
has developed a number of new products with different features and for
different applications. Revenue from sales of lithium-ion battery products
for the Year increased by 47.4% to approximately RMB362 million.

Persistent development of distribution network to
strengthen brand image

The Group has proven strategic deployment in place, with production
facilities located in regions including Shandong, Jiangsu, Henan, Zhejiang,
Anhui, Jiangxi and Hebei provinces in China, where demand for lead-acid
batteries is high, allowing it to reduce storage and logistics costs, which
would in turn enhance its operational efficiency.

The Group has a sales and distribution network spanning across China,
covering both primary and secondary markets. For primary markets, the
Group has maintained long-term cooperation with a number of top
electric bicycle manufacturers and, with dedicated departments set up,
provides comprehensive sales services to major customers . For secondary
markets, it has an extensive distribution network that covers all provinces
and regions in China, complemented by a comprehensive sales service
system, which includes a national service hotline, enabling it to provide
from online to offline, delivery to installation, and pre-sale to after-sale
services. For overseas markets, boasting excellent technologies and
performance, the Group's products have won over consumers around the
world. Major ‘CHILWEE products are sold to many countries and regions
worldwide alongside major vehicle brands.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FEE W E D

On the marketing front, the Group launched the new branding strategy
“China ‘CHILWEE' Reaching for the Top”. The new image has been
promoted nationwide to seize market development trend and strengthen
brand image. The upgrade speaks volumes to the determination and
confidence of ‘CHILWEE' in its future positioning and strategic
development direction, and in creating more potential growth
opportunities and value that are in the best interest of the Group overall
and of its partners. For the 19th consecutive year, the Group has engaged
renowned movie star Donnie Yen as brand ambassador to continue to
deepen the brand’s influence.

Brand industry leadership well recognised by the market

As a leading brand in the motive battery industry, the Group has relied on
technological innovation to enrich the brand with new technology content
and highlight its brand image as an industry leader. During the Year, with
comprehensive strength and influence in the new energy field, the Group
was listed in “Top 500 Chinese Enterprises” (A7 Bl 1 % 50058 ), “Top 500
Chinese Private-owned Enterprises” (1 Bl & & 1& % 50058), “Top 500
Chinese Energy Enterprises (Group)” ({4 88 JR 1 % ( & [# ) 50058),
“Fortune Top 500 Chinese Companies” (& & ) # B 5005% ), “Global Top
500 New Energy Enterprises” (2 Bk¥T 88 R 1B 2% 50054 ), “China’s Top 500
New Economy Enterprises” (7 B ¥ 4% %5 1& 3£ 50058 ), and again "China
Top 500 Machinery Companies” (H? B4 500 32 ). It ranked the seventh
among the “Top 100 Enterprises in China’s Light Industry” (R EIER T 2 H
3 & %) and the first for the tenth consecutive year among the “Top 10
Enterprises of New Energy Battery Industry in China’s Light Industry” (F
BT REMITETREE).

During the Year, the Group’s robust strengths in R&D and innovation and
skills in intellectual property management were certified by authoritative
institutions. It passed the “National Model Enterprise of Intellectual
Property” (BI R AR EHE R &%) review and its subsidiary, Zhejiang
Chaowei Chuangyuan Industrial Co. Ltd,, passed the “National Intellectual
Property Advantage Enterprise” (Bl SR £1:5% = #E (B 2 10 2 ) review.

In addition, during the Year, the Group was listed again in the “China Brand
Valuation List” (Ff S H 8 {B %) of the China Council for Brand
Development commending its outstanding corporate strength and brand
influence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Persisting in technological innovation leading industry
development

The Group has persisted with technological innovation, focusing on core
technology and product R&D, and has speeded up recruiting first-class
talent from around the world. The Group has established a global R&D
platform, and, with leading edge in “new technology, new materials and
new products’, has continued to lead the industry’s rapid development.
During the Year, the Group's R&D expenditure amounted to approximately
RMB1,097 million, representing approximately 3.4% of the total revenue.

During the Year, the Group brought in five national experts. As at 31
December 2022, it had on staff over 19 renowned domestic and foreign
experts. Moreover, the Group is a National Model Enterprise of
Technological Innovation and a National Model Enterprise of Intellectual
Property, and has established R&D platforms including a nationally-
recognised enterprise technology centre, a nationally-accredited
laboratory, a national environmental protection engineering technology
centre, a provincial key enterprise research institute, an academician
workstation, a national post-doctoral scientific research workstation, and a
national environmental protection lead-acid battery production and
recycling pollution prevention engineering technology centre. It also has a
number of technology R&D centers set up overseas.

Future development strategies

As it celebrates its 25th anniversary in 2023, the Group will, with yet greater
determination and enthusiasm, work to seize new opportunities in the
industry brought about by the “Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality”
strategy to achieve better performance and turn a new chapter. Going
ahead, the Group will continue to enhance its brand image underpinned
by its new strategic brand positioning of “Reaching for the Top”, persist in
product, marketing and service innovation, so as to create value for the
mass consumers.

Looking ahead to 2023, as anti-epidemic policies relax, the Chinese
economy will continue to recover and, after she returns to normal,
consumption will become the main engine that powers overall economic
recovery. The Group will actively adjust its marketing and production
strategies in response to market changes, so that it may seize opportunities
during the economic upturn. It will press on with technological innovation
and green development, and step up promoting digitalisation and
intelligent transformation. Driven by the corporate mission of “getting the
world to use ‘CHILWEE"s green energy”, the Group will strive to realise its
vision of “becoming a global top 10 great new energy enterprise” and
accomplish for ‘CHILWEE' the ambitious goal of “becoming a time-honored
brand and achieving sales of 100 billion”. It aspires to achieve high-quality
development and contribute to making life healthier and better for
mankind.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FEE W E D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue amounted to approximately RMB31,930,551,000 in
the Year, representing an increase of approximately 8.3% from
approximately RMB29,488,819,000 in 2021. The increase in revenue was
primarily attributable to an increase in sales of electric bike batteries.

Gross profit

The Group's gross profit amounted to approximately RMB3,701,517,000 in
the Year, representing an increase of approximately 11.3% from
approximately RMB3,324,497,000 in 2021. The Group's gross profit margin
in the Year was approximately 11.6% (2021: approximately 11.3%). The
increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to: (1) the higher pricing
of lead-acid motive batteries in the Year; and (2) a decrease in production
costs caused by a reduction in the amount of lead used per battery and
also by production costs saving measures in the Year.

Other income

The Group's other income amounted to approximately RMB423,472,000 in
the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 10.6% from
approximately RMB473,528,000 in 2021, which was mainly due to a
decrease in the government grants received in the Year.

Distribution and selling expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses amounted to approximately
RMB1,045,058,000 in the Year, representing an increase of approximately
24.5% from approximately RMB839,687,000 in 2021, which was primarily
attributable to an increase in logistics and transportation expenses arising
from (1) the government’s strict control measures of the Pandemic in
March to May during the Year; and (2) an increase in sales volume. For the
Year, the distribution and selling expenses as a percentage of revenue were
approximately 3.3% (2021: approximately 2.8%).

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses were approximately RMB573,252,000
in the Year, representing an increase of approximately 11.4% from
approximately RMB514,724,000 in 2021, which was mainly due to the
additional staff costs and other administrative expenses incurred during
the outbreak of the Pandemic in March to May during the Year.

R&D expenses

The Group's R&D expenses amounted to approximately RMB1,097,402,000
in the Year, representing an increase of approximately 18.1% from
approximately RMB929,292,000 in 2021, which was primarily attributable to
an increase in R&D expenditure on lead-acid batteries and other new
technology products during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs increased by approximately 15.1% from
approximately RMB321,846,000 in 2021 to approximately RMB370,373,000
in the Year. The increase in finance costs was primarily due to an increase
in interest rates of bank borrowings during the Year.

Profit before tax

For the above reasons, the Group’s profit before tax increased by
approximately 4.3% to approximately RMB818,077,000 in the Year (2021:
approximately RMB784,617,000).

Taxation

The Group's income tax expenses decreased by approximately 7.7% to
approximately RMB230,228,000 in the Year (2021: approximately
RMB249,532,000). The effective tax rate was approximately 28.1% in the
Year (2021: approximately 31.8%). The lower in the effective tax rate was
mainly due to a decrease in the tax losses and deductible temporary
differences previously not recognised during the Year.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

For the above reasons and an increase in profit of subsidiaries” minority
shareholders, profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased to
RMB417,181,000 in the Year (2021: approximately RMB516,269,000).

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB1,552,276,000 (31 December 2021: net current assets of
approximately RMB1,501,470,000). Cash and bank balances were
approximately RMB2,157,975,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB2,860,613,000). Net debts, including borrowings, lease liabilities and
deducting cash and bank deposits (including restricted bank deposits),
were approximately RMB2,586,765,000 (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB2,150,287,000), which were mainly used to finance the capital
expenditure, the purchases of raw materials and daily working capital of
the Group. Borrowings were denominated in RMB, USD or HKD, of which
approximately RMB4,044,180,000 bore interest at fixed rates and
approximately RMB4,195,517,000 were repayable within one year. The
Group adopts centralised financing and treasury policies in order to ensure
that the Group’s funding is utilised efficiently and it monitors its interest
rate risks in a conservative manner.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's current ratio (current assets/current
liabilities) was 1.14 (31 December 2021: 1.12) and gearing ratio (net debts/
total assets) was approximately 12.9% (31 December 2021: approximately
10.7%). The Group had sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements. The current cash
position enables the Group to explore potential investment and potential
business development opportunities to expand its market share in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FEEAMER DM

Exchange rate fluctuation risk

As the Group's operations are mainly conducted in the PRC and the
majority of the sales and purchases are transacted in RMB, the Directors are
of the view that the Group’s operating cash flow and liquidity are not
subject to significant foreign exchange rate risks. The Group currently does
not have any foreign currency hedging policies.

Pledge of assets

At the end of the Year, certain of the Group’s assets were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. The aggregate carrying amount of
the assets of the Group pledged at the end of each of the financial years is
as follows:

B = i Bh & B

HRAEEEBFENGELE TEEEFE
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I AT INE SRR ©

BEEH

RAFRBERE  FTAKEEECHFEM £
RARBERFRITHENER NEVHFES
R AKBECEREENR@AENT

0 2021
i —EFE—F
B’ 000 RMB'000
R ARKETF T
Buildings BF 689,132 648,808
Right-of-use assets FREEE 107,666 89,844
Deposits for borrowings EEIZS 25,150 43,904
Receivables at FVTOCI RAFEFARMEZE
W25 B9 e 5k TR 1,658,065 1,413,237
Restricted bank deposits ZRFHIERITER 890,887 1,143,032
Inventory FE 82,574 133,852
Capital commitments BEERKIE
0 2021
L ] —E -4
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
K AREFT
Contracted but not provided for: BRIV B AR B
— acquisition of property, plant and equipment  — UWEE % - iR LR iE 113,352 112,888
— acquisition of intangible asset — BB EE 7,920 7,690
— capital contribution to associates —mBE AR TE 6,400 6,400
— capital contribution to a joint venture —A—REENETE 174 174
Contingent liabilities BREH

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Human resources and employees’ remuneration

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 16,977 (31
December 2021: 13,062) staff members in the PRC and Hong Kong. During
the Year, the total cost of employees amounted to approximately
RMB1,904,042,000. The Group sought to further strengthen staff training by
offering focused training programmes and study tours to management
and professional technical personnel, and disseminating the latest
information of government policy on the lead-acid motive battery industry
to staff. The Group continued to strive for the enhancement of professional
standards and overall qualities of its staff. The Group also provided
competitive salary packages to its staff, encouraging them to be fully
dedicated in their work and to leverage their capabilities in serving its
customers.

Significant investment, material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

There were no significant investments held, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year, nor
was there any plan authorised by the Board for other material investments
or additions of capital assets at the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the interests of shareholders. The Company has complied
with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) throughout the Year, except for the deviation as stated
below.

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles of chairman of the
board and chief executive officer to be separated. Mr. Zhou Mingming is
currently both the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board considers that the current arrangement facilitates the
execution of the Group’s business strategies and maximises efficiency of its
operation and is therefore beneficial to the Company and its shareholders
as awhole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

FEE W E D

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions of the Directors, senior management and relevant employees
(who, because of their office in the Company, are likely to be in possession
of inside information) of the Company on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings specified in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry to all
Directors, all of them have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s own code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions during the Year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”). Its primary duties include, among other things, the review
and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
comprises all four independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai (“Mr. Lee”), Mr. Wang Jigiang, Prof.
Ouyang Minggao and Mr. Ng Chi Kit. Mr. Lee is the chairman of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Lee has professional qualification and experience in
accounting and financial matters.

The Audit Committee has met and discussed with the external auditors of
the Company, Ernst & Young, and has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and the audited results of the Group
for the Year. The Audit Committee considered that the consolidated results
of the Group for the Year are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards, rules and regulations and that appropriate disclosures have
been duly made in accordance with Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules in this
report.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company (the “Register of Members”) will
be closed from Thursday, 1 June 2023 to Tuesday, 6 June 2023 (both days
inclusive), for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement to
attend the annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 6 June 2023,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for attending the annual general meeting, the
shareholders should ensure that all transfer documents, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, are lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, No.183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 31 May 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HKDO0.066 per share for shareholders whose names appear on the Register
of Members on Wednesday, 14 June 2023. The Register of Members will be
closed from Monday, 12 June 2023 to Wednesday, 14 June 2023, both days
inclusive, and the proposed final dividend is expected to be paid on or
around Friday, 14 July 2023. The payment of dividends shall be subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company expected to be held on Tuesday, 6 June 2023. In order to be
qualified for the proposed final dividend, shareholders should deliver share
certificates together with transfer documents to the Company’s branch
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9
June 2023.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREBREEALAR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Mingming (BBABR), aged 54, is the founder of the Group, the
chairman of the Board, an executive Director and the chief executive officer
of the Group. Mr. Zhou is mainly responsible for the Group's overall strategy
planning and investment decisions. Mr. Zhou received a bachelor's degree
in chemistry from Hangzhou Normal University (FL) B&5E2FE) in July
1990, and has over 20 years experience in the lead-acid battery industry.
Mr. Zhou is the younger brother of Mr. Yang Xinxin, and the son of Mr.
Zhou Longrui and Ms. Yang Yunfei, all being executive Directors. Also, Mr.
Zhou is the spouse of Ms. Fang Jianjun, a non-executive Director.

Mr. Zhou Longrui (A &8 ), aged 84, is an executive Director of the Group.
He is mainly responsible for the overall supervision of the technical aspects
of the production process. Mr. Zhou joined the Group in January 1998. Mr.
Zhou has rich experience in the lead-acid battery industry gained at the
Group and through previous employment. Early in 1994 and
since then, Mr. Zhou published several professional articles in the field
of lead-acid batteries on various magazines such as Batteries ({ & B 1)),
International Power Information (BB %R %15 ) and Power Technologies
(CFEIRFATY), etc. Mr. Zhou was appointed the vice-chairman of the First
Session of Lead-acid Battery Committee (55— [E$HEE T W EEXLZE S
Bl =T Z B) by China Electrotechnics Technology Academy (FF B & T
17 2 &) in August 2008 and a member of National Lead-acid Battery
Standardization Technology Committee (% BU$HES BMIZ (L HAlTE B
&) in July 2007. He is the father of Mr. Zhou Mingming and Mr. Yang
Xinxin and the spouse of Ms. Yang Yunfei, all being executive Directors. He
is also a father-in-law of Ms. Fang Jianjun, a non-executive Director.

Ms. Yang Yunfei (88 &R), aged 80, is an executive Director of the Group.
She is mainly responsible for the management of the Group’s procurement
and building. She has been with the Group since January 1998. Ms. Yang
has worked in several battery manufacturing factories, responsible for
manufacturing and overall operation of the factories and worked for the
establishment preparation of the Group. Ms. Yang has accumulated rich
experience in the lead-acid battery industry gained at the Group and
through previous employment. Ms. Yang Yunfei is the mother of Mr. Zhou
Mingming and Mr. Yang Xinxin and the spouse of Mr. Zhou Longrui, all
being executive Directors. She is also a mother-in-law of Ms. Fang Jianjun, a
non-executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Xinxin (3##7), aged 56, is an executive Director of the Group.
He is mainly responsible for assisting Mr. Zhou Mingming in the discharge
of Mr. Zhou's duties in the overall management of the Group. Mr. Yang
joined the Group in August 201
management of sizeable organisations. Immediately prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yang was the secretary of the party committee (EZ £ ) and
deputy head (BIFt &) of Zhejiang Design Institute of Water Conservancy and
Hydroelectric Power (1T & K F|7K E &1 RIF&FTBR), and had served in
such positions since August 2006. Mr. Yang was the deputy head (8§ )
of the People’s Government of Anji County, Zhejiang Province (#T/T& %
#H % ARBUF) between June 2001 and August 2003. Mr. Yang was the
deputy director of Water Resources Department of Zhejiang Province (4
7L 7K FEE) between August 2003 and August 2006. Mr. Yang is a
professor-level senior engineer (¥ A = A& TH2AM). Mr. Yang obtained a
bachelor degree from Anhui University of Science & Technology (%2 32
T KE), formerly known as Huainan Mining Institute (R E2E£267), in
July 1988 and a master's degree from Zhejiang University ($1)T A28 in
March 1991. Mr. Yang is an elder brother of Mr. Zhou Mingming, the son of
Mr. Zhou Longrui and Ms. Yang Yunfei, all being executive Directors. He is

1. He has vast experience in the

also a brother-in-law of Ms. Fang Jianjun, a non-executive Director.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Fang Jianjun (753 ), aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Group on 17 November 2013. Ms. Fang received a
bachelor's degree in chemistry from Hangzhou Normal University (1) il
&5 KE) in July 1990. From August 1990 to October 1998, Ms. Fang was a
teacher at Hongxi Middle School ({1;Z A £2) in Zhejiang Province, the PRC.
Ms. Fang is the spouse of Mr. Zhou Mingming, an executive Director, the
chairman of the Board, and the controlling shareholder (as defined under
the Listing Rules) of the Company. She is also a daughter-in-law of Mr.
Zhou Longrui and Ms. Yang Yunfei, a sister-in-law of Mr. Yang Xinxin, all
being executive Directors.

EFREREEAR

BW#EE som AEEWTES TEEA
SEMNRREE FAS G ARARLERITER
B -BEER_ZT——F\ANBEAEE - K%
BEEARBEABNEZLR - %}xbﬂﬁﬂ$‘il
Al - B BRI B KFIKE R RIR AT e B
EikERE - A-TTRFENA Wfiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&u °
BEEAR_ZEZ—F AE_ZTZT=F/\A - 7%
MTEREBRARBANEISRE R-_TET=
NAZZZZXRFEN\A - BIT4E 7J<%IJE§EE|JEE °
BREERBERSHIEMN  R—ANANFLA
RIS IR T AL (AT ErR IR S 2 ) 284 -
YR —NA—F=RABEHIRBELEM - 15
FERBERRALERK  FERLERGERKZ
T (EBALHRATES)NR T - RITFIEH
TEEHEELLZARMAE-

FRTESE

FRERLE 4 RN -FT—=F1t—HtLtH
BRZERAEEZERTES - TREIR—NA
TEFELAEGMMNMBRB(LEELTEM-
—MNEFENAZE-ANANETR TERLESD
BT R IDRR BREH - T RERITES -
EEETREUARARTREBRR(EER ETRA)
FRBRALENES - WA SFEEREERBER
TEMRIEBARGHH L (RHALHRRTE
ESE: OB S

BEEBNERBERAT / 202F® 27



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREBREEALAR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jigiang (GE##38), aged 83, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Group. Mr. Wang has more than 50 years of experience in
the field of electrochemistry. Before he retired in December 2008, Mr. Wang
has been working in the 18th Research Institute, China Electronics
Technology Group Corporation (FEIE FEHREE A FE + /A
since October 1962 as a vice-chief engineer. In addition, Mr. Wang received
various awards of national and provincial levels for his achievements on
development of new battery technology, such as the first class award on
science and technology advancement (BHE2 /i3t 25— 48) from the
former Ministry of Electronics Industry (presently known as MIIT) on his
research on lithium rechargeable battery technology in October 1999. In
view of his contribution, Mr. Wang was awarded a “Celebrating the 70th
Anniversary of the Founding of the People’s Republic of China”
commemorative medal in 2019. Mr. Wang received a bachelor's degree in
electrochemistry from Fudan University in 1962, and went to Stanford
University in the United States as a visiting scholar on government
sponsorship from 1982 to 1985. After returning to the PRC, he received the
title of professor and was mainly in charge of new battery technology
development. After his retirement, Mr. Wang has continued to assist China
Industrial Association of Power Sources (1 Bl{t 2 B3R B RTITEHE)
to organise various international and domestic technology exchange
activities, including China International Battery Fair (% REMEE e
BT E) which is held biennially.

Prof. Ouyang Minggao (EXF&BA ), aged 64, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Group. Prof. Ouyang graduated from the
Technical University of Denmark with a doctorate degree in Engineering in
1993. He worked at Tsinghua University (B ZE K Z) since 1994, and is
currently a Ministry of Education Scholar Chang Jiang Special Professor (2§
B ERITEERFIEHUR). Prof. Ouyang is also a Standing Member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEIARBUAHE EZEHEEEFHZE B). Prof. Ouyang
also served as independent non-executive Director of Sinotruk (Hong
Kong) Limited (Stock Code: 3808) and Zhuzhou CRRC Times Electric Co.,
Ltd. (Stock Code: 3898), both being companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, from July 2007 to December 2015 and from August
2017 to March 2018, respectively, Shanghai Diesel Engine Company
Limited (Stock Code: 600841) (L84 H B R A F)) and Baic
Bluepark New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 600733) (3£ /5 EE A
FoeREHR D AR A7), both being companies listed on the Main
Board of Shanghai Stock Exchange, from May 2012 to May 2015 and from
November 2018 to August 2021, respectively, and Chongging Changan
Automobile Company Limited (Stock Code: 000625) (E & &% /A8 & {7
BRAF]), a company listed on the Main Board of Shenzhen Stock
Exchange from May 2012 to March 2016.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai (FE# ), aged 68, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Group. Mr. Lee received a bachelor's degree in
arts from the Kingston University (formerly known as the Kingston
Polytechnic) in London in July 1980 and obtained his postgraduate
diploma in business from the Curtin University of Technology in Australia in
February 1988. Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst & Young for 29 years
until 2009 and had held key leadership positions in the development of
such firm in the PRC. Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, the Chartered Accountants, Australia
and New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau Society
of Registered Accountants. Mr. Lee has been an independent non-
executive director of West China Cement Limited (Stock Code: 2233), China
Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1117), GOME Retail Holdings
Limited (formerly known as GOME Electrical Appliances Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 493), NVC International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
NVC Lighting Holding Limited) (Stock Code: 2222), Yashili International
Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 1230), GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 451), all being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, since July 2010, October 2010, March 2011, November 2012,
November 2013 and May 2014, respectively, and Guotai Junan Securities
Co,, Ltd.,, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2611) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601211), since
April 2017 and Intchains Group Limited (Stock Code: ICG), a company listed
on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange since March 2023. Mr. Lee also served as an
independent non-executive director of China Taiping Insurance Holdings
Company Limited (Stock Code: 966), China Environmental Technology and
Bioenergy Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1237), CITIC Securities Company
Limited (Stock Code: 6030), Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (formerly known as
Tibet 5100 Water Resources Holdings Ltd.) (Stock Code: 1115), China
Rundong Auto Group Limited (formerly known as China Greenland
Rundong Auto Group Limited) (Stock Code: 1365) and WH Group Limited
(Stock Code: 288), all being companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from October 2009 to August 2013, from July 2014 to
September 2015, from November 2011 to May 2016, from March 2011 to
February 2020, from July 2014 to December 2020, from August 2014 to
June 2022, respectively, and Sino Vanadium Inc. (Stock Code: SVX), a
company listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Toronto, Canada, from
October 2009 to December 2011. Mr. Lee was for 10 years a member of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan Province in
the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFREREEALAR

Mr. Ng Chi Kit (RE#8), aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Group on 2 December 2010 and was re-designated as an
independent non-executive Director on 10 February 2017. Prior to that, Mr.
Ng was the Group's chief financial officer and company secretary. Mr. Ng
holds a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and is an Associate Member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ng worked in the
Assurance and Advisory Business Service Department of Ernst & Young. Mr.
Ng has over 20 years of experience in accounting and auditing. Mr. Ng has
been an independent non-executive director of Great Wall Motor Company
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2333) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601633), since
May 2017, Frontier Biotechnologies (Nanjing) Inc (Stock Code: 688221), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since February 2019, and
Immunotech Biopharm Ltd (Stock Code: 6978), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since June 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Dong Yifeng (E&#), aged 47, is the finance director of the Group.
Mr. Dong graduated from Zhejiang Changzheng College of Finance and
Economics in 1998. He joined the Group in 2001 and has served as the
deputy head of the finance department, head of the finance department and
deputy director of the finance department.

Mr. Kai Mingmin (BBB#}), aged 60, is the vice president of the Group. Mr.
Kai graduated from the Central Party School in 1998. He joined the Group in
2011 and was the general manager of a subsidiary of the Group and has
been holding his current position as vice president of the Group since
August 2017
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Wai Yip ({23), aged 47, was appointed as the Group’s chief
financial officer and company secretary (the “Company Secretary”), on 2
December 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Leung was the financial
controller and the company secretary of Tiangong International Company
Limited (K ZEIFR BBR A A]) (Stock Code: 826), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from June 2007 to November 2010.
Prior to such appointment, Mr. Leung was an internal auditor of the Swire
Group and was previously a manager with the assurance and advisory
business services department of Ernst & Young, Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Leung graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce degree
from the University of Alberta in Canada in 1998 and obtained a Master of
Business Administration degree from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2010. He is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and an Associate Member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Leung has been an
independent non-executive director of HPC Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1742), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since
April 2018. He also served as an independent non-executive director of
Miko International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1247), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from December 2013 to February
20176.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PRESHE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance. The Company acknowledges the important role of the Board
in providing effective leadership and direction to the Company’s business,
and ensuring transparency and accountability of the Company’s
operations. The Board sets appropriate policies and implements corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of the
Group's business.

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the interests of shareholders. The Company has complied
with all code provisions of the CG Code of the Listing Rules throughout the
Year, except for the deviations as stated below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer to be separated. Mr. Zhou Mingming is
currently both the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board considers that the current arrangement facilitates the
execution of the Group's business strategies and maximizes efficiency of its
operation and is therefore beneficial to the Company and its shareholders
as a whole. Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code provides that non-
executive directors should attend general meetings to gain and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders, Ms. Fang Jianjun, the
non-executive Director, was unable to attend the Company’s annual
general meeting held on 9 June 2022 due to other business commitments.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

With the historical mission of “Advocate Green Energy and Perfect Human
Life", the Group emphasises on energy conservation and environmental
protection, promotes green development, continues to broaden
international cooperation, adheres to technology innovation; strives for
breakthroughs and rewards in the new energy sector; and contributes to
the national goal of “carbon peak and carbon neutrality”, in turn to
contribute to sustainable development.

The Group adheres to its corporate culture of "harmony”, actively upholds
its social responsibilities during development process, creates value for
employees, government, partners, investors and other stakeholders, and
cares for the vulnerable social groups. The Group always integrates the
concept of charity and public welfare into its harmonious culture and has
been participating actively in social welfare undertakings, conducting a
number of public welfare activities in caring for vulnerable groups and
supporting education. The Group attaches great importance to cultivation
and treatment of employees and provides caring for employees in need,
and build a harmonious and safety working atmosphere.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The principal strategy of the Company is to enhance long-term returns for
the shareholders of the Company. To achieve this objective, the Group
focuses on maintaining recurring and sustainable cash flow with strong
liquidity and flexibility. Besides, the Group executes disciplined
management of revenue and gross profit margin growth, cost control,
strength of capital and investment. The Group explores opportunities to
enhance the shareholders’ returns as well as generates and preserves value
in the longer term for the Group's objectives.

The Board plays a crucial role in shaping the Company’s culture and
ensuring that it aligns with its strategic goals and objectives. The desired
culture is developed and reflected consistently in the Group's operating
practices, policies as well as relations with its stakeholders. The Board
oversight of culture encompasses a range of measures and tools from time
to time, including continuous innovation, workforce planning, stringent
financial reporting, effective whistleblowing and anti-corruption
frameworks, legal and regulatory compliance, as well as staff safety,
training, retention and advancement, wellbeing and support. Taking into
account the corporate culture and strategy in a range of contexts, the
Board considers that the culture, purpose, value and strategy of the Group
are aligned.

LINKAGE BETWEEN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND
ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance can be considered as the framework within which
the Board forms their decisions and develop their businesses. The Board's
focus is on creating long-term sustainable growth for the shareholders and
delivering long-term values to the stakeholders. An effective corporate
governance structure allows the Group to have a better understanding of,
evaluate and manage risks, including environment, social and governance
risks. The Board is responsible for setting strategic objectives for risk
management, implementing risk management values, evaluating and
approving risk management policies, reviewing and ensuring the
effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management system.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control and management of
the Company and oversees the Group's business, strategic decision and
performances in attaining the objective of ensuring effective functioning
and growth of the Group and enhancing value to investors. The Board has
delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily operations of the Group’s business
to the management. The Board exercises a number of powers which
include:

formulating long-term strategy
approving public announcements
approving financial statements, including interim and annual results
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approving major acquisitions, disposal and capital projects
authorising significant changes to the capital structure and material
borrowings

any issue or buy-back of equity securities under the relevant general
mandates

making recommendations and/or declaration of dividend and
reviewing dividend policy

approving appointments to the Board

setting the Group remuneration policy

reviewing operational and financial performance

reviewing the effectiveness of internal control and risk management

The Board meets at least 4 times a year and additional meetings are held
when required to discuss significant events and issues. The Company
Secretary assists the chairman of the Board in preparing agenda for Board
meetings. Board meetings are held with at least 14 days’ advance notice,
and all Directors would be served with an agenda with supporting papers
at least 3 days before the Board meetings, so as to ensure that there is
timely access to relevant information. The executive Directors and senior
management meet regularly to review business matters of the Company
and escalate the matters to the Board meetings for further discussion
whenever necessary. Save for the regular Board meetings held during the
financial year, meeting(s) of the Directors was/were held to discuss and
transact other special businesses. The Board members are provided with
appropriate and sufficient information in a timely manner to keep abreast
of the Group's latest developments and may propose to the chairman of
the Board or the Company Secretary to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board meetings. All businesses transacted at the Board meetings
are properly documented and recorded. Minutes of the Board and Board
committees are taken by the Company Secretary. Such minutes of the
Board and the Board committees, together with supporting papers, are
made available for inspection by any Director following reasonable notice.
Draft and final versions of minutes are sent to all Directors for their
comment and records. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary to
fulfill their duties. Moreover, they have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with and who advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters.
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The Company is of the view that the Board independence is critical to
good corporate and has mechanisms in place to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board. The Group ensures that all the Board
members are informed of the Group’s latest developments and thereby
assists them in the discharge of their duties. The Directors may seek such
advices, views and inputs as considered necessary to fulfill their
responsibilities and in exercising independent judgement when making
decisions in furtherance of their duties at the Company’s expense.
Independent professional advice shall include legal advice and advice of
accountants and other professional financial advisers on matters of law,
accounting, tax and other regulation matters. The Board will conduct
annual review of the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanisms
and make corresponding disclosure on its Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has arranged directors and officers liability and company
reimbursement insurances for the Directors and senior management of the
Company. The insurance coverage is reviewed regularly by the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for developing, reviewing and monitoring the
Company'’s policies and practices on corporate governance, the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the code of
conduct of the Company’s employees and Directors. The Board is also
responsible for reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises four executive Directors (Mr. Zhou
Mingming, Mr. Zhou Longrui, Ms. Yang Yunfei and Mr. Yang Xinxin), one
non-executive Director (Ms. Fang Jianjun) and four independent non-
executive Directors (Mr. Wang Jigiang, Prof. Ouyang Minggao, Mr. Lee
Conway Kong Wai and Mr. Ng Chi Kit who was re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an independent non-executive Director on 10
February 2017). Among the executive Directors, Mr. Zhou Mingming is the
younger brother of Mr. Yang Xinxin. They are both sons of Mr. Zhou
Longrui and Ms. Yang Yunfei, and Mr. Zhou Longrui is the spouse of Ms.
Yang Yunfei. Also, Ms. Fang Jianjun is the spouse of Mr. Zhou Mingming.
Biographical details of the Directors of the Group as at the date of this
annual report are set out on pages 26 to 31 of this annual report.
Independent non-executive Directors account for more than one-third of
the members of the Board. The independent non-executive Directors
come either from the battery industry or have related professional
background, bringing valuable expertise and experience that promotes the
best interests of the Group and its shareholders. The role of the
independent non-executive Directors is to provide independent and
objective opinions to the Board for its consideration.
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BOARD MEETINGS EFE

During the Year, the Board has held a total of four Board meetings forthe AREE - EFepBTodMrkEEe e =

main purposes of formulating business development and prospects of the EZ ATHEIAEENEEERERAIS Bk

Group, reviewing and considering the financial and operating ZEEMENLEERIE -

performance.

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings are set out below: BREEREFTZEZMHFELENT
Attendance/Number of

Board Meetings

Name of Directors EENS HEXE EEEFRXB

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Zhou Mingming JEIBABA 5T A& 4/4

Mr. Zhou Longrui [EBEim e 4/4

Ms. Yang Yunfei BERLZ T 4/4

Mr. Yang Xinxin DLk vt 4/4

Non-executive Director ERITESE

Ms. Fang Jianjun FREX L 2/4

Independent Non-executive Directors BIAERITESE

Mr. Wang Jigiang USRS A 4/4

Prof. Ouyang Minggao B 55 B e 2 4/4

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai THRELAE 4/4

Mr. Ng Chi Kit REGEAE 4/4

The chairman of the Board held one meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors during the
Year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision C2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer to be separated. Mr. Zhou Mingming is
currently both the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company. The Board considers that the current arrangement facilitates the
execution of the Group's business strategies and maximizes efficiency of its
operation and is therefore beneficial to the Company and its shareholders
as awhole.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received confirmation from each independent non-
executive Director about his independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and continues to consider each of them to be independent.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

A person may be appointed as a member of the Board at any time either
by shareholders’ resolutions in general meetings or by resolutions of the
Board. New Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board
during the Year are required to retire at the first annual general meeting
following their appointments and new Directors appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy during the Year are required to retire at the first
general meeting following their appointments, and in both cases, the
acting Directors will be eligible for re-election at such general meeting. Al
Directors are required to retire by rotation at least once every 3 years at the
annual general meeting, subject to re-election by the shareholders. All
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are appointed for a term of not more than 3 years.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. All Directors are encouraged to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Directors have been informed of the
requirement under code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code regarding
continuous professional development. The Company updates the Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training
received by the Directors during the Year is as follows:
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Type of Continuous
Professional Development

Programmes
Name of Directors EEge BEEEREBEN
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Zhou Mingming [EIRARA 5 A& A B
Mr. Zhou Longrui AR L& A B
Ms. Yang Yunfei BERLLT A B
Mr. Yang Xinxin SRR A B
Non-executive Director FERITESE
Ms. Fang Jianjun FEELT A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFERITES
Mr. Wang Jigiang AR A A B
Prof. Ouyang Minggao B 5 BR = 20 A B
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai FTHEELEE AB
Mr. Ng Chi Kit REBEE A B
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Notes:
A: attending training sessions and/or seminars

B: reviewing materials and updates relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules and

other applicable regulatory requirements

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) for
overseeing the particular aspects of the affairs of the Company. All the
Board committees have been established with defined written terms of
reference, which are posted on the Company’s welbsite “www.chaowei.com.hk”
and the website of the Stock Exchange and are available to the
shareholders upon request. All the Board committees would report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

All the Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive Directors
of the Company, namely Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai, Mr. Wang Jigiang, Prof.
Ouyang Minggao and Mr. Ng Chi Kit. Mr. Lee is the chairman of the Audit
Committee. He has professional qualification and experience in accounting
and financial matters.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is mainly responsible for
overseeing the Company's financial reporting system and internal control
procedures, reviewing the financial information of the Company and
overseeing the relationship with external auditors. These include reviewing
and recommending for the Board's approval of the interim and the annual
financial statements; reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’
independence, objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process;
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor; reviewing and
recommending to the Board for approval of the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, developing and implementing
policy on engaging the external auditors to supply non-audit services;
overseeing the Company’s relations with the external auditor; and
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group.
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During the Year, the Directors’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:
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Attendance/Number of

Audit Committee Meetings

HERY EZERE

Name of Directors EElE 14 PN
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai BB EE 3/3
Mr. Wang Jigiang TR, 3/3
Prof. Ouyang Minggao B 55 B e 2 3/3
Mr. Ng Chi Kit REBSESE 3/3

The meetings were held together with the external auditors of the
Company and the chief financial officer of the Company, and discussed
auditing, internal control, risk management and financial reporting matters
which included the review of the interim and annual financial statements.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Zhou Mingming, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai and Mr. Wang Jigiang. Mr. Lee is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The principal responsibilities of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure and the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior management. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to
ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration, in which remuneration will be
determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the
Company as well as market practice and conditions.
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The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the remuneration
offered to employees, including executive Directors and the senior
management, is based on the skills, knowledge, responsibilities and
involvement in the Company's affairs. During the Year, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and the senior management of the Group were
reviewed and discussed at the meeting of the Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee also assessed the performance of executive
Directors and approved the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts.
The Directors’ attendance of the meetings of the Remuneration Committee
is set out as follows:

ARBFMEBER S ERRER TEER (BT
EXERSREERE) WFMER LG - AE -
BEMHARREBNSERE - NFE - M
ZEERSLEHAARAREEZRSNER
ABWFHHEFE - FHEZ B SN EATESH
REARMERTEFTORBAOGER - EFHE
FHZEeeRMBEREIIAT

Attendance/Number of

Remuneration Committee

Meeting

HERS FHEEE

Name of Directors ESHE FERAH
Mr. Zhou Mingming JEFRER % A& 1/1
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai THEERE /1
Mr. Wang Jigiang E SR A /1

Details of the remuneration of each Director of the Company for the Year
are set out in note 12 to the financial statements contained in this annual
report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely Mr.
Zhou Mingming, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai and Mr. Wang Jigiang. Mr. Zhou is the chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The principal responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board at least annually and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the corporate
strategy. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and selecting or
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for the Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
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DIVERSITY IN BOARD AND WORKFORCE

Board Level

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The purpose of the Board Diversity Policy is to set out the basic
principles to be followed to ensure that the Board has appropriate balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate
governance. Under the Board Diversity Policy, the selection of the Board
candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with
reference to the Company’s business model and specific needs, including
but not limited to gender, race, language, cultural background, educational
background, industry experience and professional experience, which are
the measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee has primary responsibility for identifying
suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board and shall
give adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy in selection of
the Board candidates. Board nomination and appointments will continue
to be made on merit basis based on its business needs from time to time
while taking into account diversity.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy and monitoring the progress on
achieving these measurable objectives. The review of the Board Diversity
Policy and the measurable objectives shall be carried out at least annually
to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

For the Year and as at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of
seven male members and two female members. The Nomination
Committee considered that the Board was diverse in terms of gender and
the Board had not set any measurable objectives. The Company will
engage more resources in training female staff who have long and relevant
experience in battery industry, with the aim of promoting them to the
senior management or directorship of the Group. The Company expects to
have more female members who would be qualified to sit on the Board in
the future.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has considered the Board
Diversity Policy and whether the Board has the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate
governance. After due consideration, the Nomination Committee has
concluded that based on the Company'’s existing business model and
specific needs, the current composition of the Board satisfies the Board
Diversity Policy for the Year.
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Workforce Level

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has a 39:61 female-to-male ratio in the
workforce (including the senior management). The Company considers
that at present there is reasonably high gender diversity in the Group’s
workforce, and will continue to monitor the need to maintain or, if desired
or necessary, increase diversity to meet the Group's corporate objectives.

In order to enhance efficiency, the Company maintains a simple staff
structure with all male senior management at moment, however, there are
various departments which are led by different male and female staff. The
Company welcomes all gender to join.

The recruitment strategy is to employ a right staff for a right position
regardless of the gender. The Company commits to provide equal
opportunities to its staff in respect of recruitment, training and
development, job advancement, and remuneration and benefits.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY
Board nomination policy (the “Board Nomination Policy”) is in place to
ensure that all nominations of Board members are fair and transparent in
order to facilitate the constitution of the Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that is appropriate to the
requirements of the Company's business.

Nomination procedures:
The nomination procedures to select and recommend Board candidates
could be summarised as follows:

1. The Nomination Committee shall consider suitability of an individual
pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Board Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy, and the independence of an individual for the
position of independent non-executive Director.

2. The Nomination Committee shall make recommendation to the
Board's for consideration.

3. The Board shall consider the individual recommended by the
Nomination Committee pursuant to the Listing Rules, the CG Code,
the Board Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy.

4. For casual vacancy and addition of new Directors, the Board shall
confirm the appointment of the individual and the new Director
shall be subjected to re-election by shareholders of the Company at
the next annual general meeting in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company.
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For re-appointment of retiring Directors, the Board shall, based on
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, recommend
the retiring directors to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting. The appointment of retiring Directors shall be subjected to
the approval of shareholder at the annual general meeting.

The Board reserves the right to make final decisions on the matters
in relation to the selection and appointment of Directors.
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Selection criteria: B R AT
The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination REHHEZFERAB S ELK  IREXLZESBEFE
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate: BTIREEERZRE :

Reputation for integrity;

Accomplishment and professional knowledge and industry
experience which may be relevant to the Company;

Commitment in respect of available time;

Merit and potential contributions that such candidate could bring to
the Board with reference to the Board Diversity Policy (as adopted
and amended by the Board from time to time), including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, independence, skills, knowledge
and length of service;

In case of a candidate for an independent non-executive Director of
the Company, to assess: (i) the independence of such candidate with
reference to, among other things, the independence criteria as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the guidance and
requirements relating to independent non-executive directors as set
out in code provision B.3.4 of the CG Code and in the “Guidance for
Boards and Directors” published by The Stock Exchange; and

Board succession planning considerations and the long-term needs
of the Company.
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The Nomination Committee has the discretion to consider any other 1EEZZLZE @AM IEREIZB TR RDEE AT
factors and matters and nominate any person, as it considers appropriate,  BIFJ3E3| RIRTE @ EREAMEMREAEZ RSB EIL IR
subject to the guidance and requirements of the Listing Rules and the CG ~ ZERABEEOEM AL

Code.
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During the Year, the Directors’ attendance of the meetings of the
Nomination Committee is set out as follows:

REE BFRHERELZESSENBEAHIN
T

8

Attendance/Number of

Nomination Committee

Meeting

HERS REEA®

Name of Directors EEga -4 PN
Mr. Zhou Mingming [EIBA AR 5 A& /1
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai FAREEE /1
Mr. Wang Jigiang TR E /1

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the Year, which were prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The reporting responsibility of the external auditors of the
Company on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set
out in the independent auditor's report on pages 74 to 79.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wai Yip, the Company Secretary and an employee of the
Company, has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs and reports to
the chairman of the Board. The details of his biography is set out in the
section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Mr. Leung also confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours relevant
professional training during the Year .

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness in order to safeguard the interest of the Group and the
shareholders, and to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems on an ongoing basis to ensure that
the systems in place are adequate.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are featured
with a defined management structure with limits of authority and well-
rounded policies and procedures, and are designed to facilitate effective
and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, to identify and manage
potential risks, and to safeguard assets of the Group. Such systems are
designed to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's systems of risk management and internal
control covering all material controls, including financial, operation,
compliance and internal controls as well as risk management functions. In
addition, the Audit Committee will review and evaluate the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group at least once a
year to ensure that no material internal control loophole exists and report
to the Board of its monitoring results.

The Group has an internal audit department (the “Internal Audit
Department”), which is responsible for the internal audit of the Group,
independent assessment of risks, and internal control procedures and
systems, and reports its findings, with recommendations, to the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit Department assesses the risks to which the
Group is exposed, and formulates an audit plan on that basis annually, so as
to ensure that the internal audit covers all areas of high risks. The annual
audit plan will be submitted to the Audit Committee for approval. The scope
of audit review is determined based on the risk assessment results and
special reviews will be conducted on matters which are of concern to the
management or the Audit Committee. During the Year, no major issues but
areas for improvement have been identified. All of the recommendations
from the Internal Audit Department will be properly followed up to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the Year. The Board
and the Audit Committee also considered that the key areas of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of our accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting staff, and their training programs and budget, are
reasonably implemented and the Group has fully complied with provisions
of the CG Code regarding risk management and internal control systems in
general for the Year.

The Group strictly follows the requirements of the SFO and the Listing
Rules and ensures that inside information is disclosed to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable. Before inside information is fully disclosed to the
public, such information is kept strictly confidential. The Group has further
enhanced the procedures with the establishment of a continuous
disclosure policy and provided with relevant training to all relevant staff of
the Group. The Board considered that the procedures and measures in
relation to the handling and dissemination of the inside information to be
effective and adequate.
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The Company also has whistleblowing and anti-corruption policies for
employees of the Group and other parties who deal with the Group, which
are including but not limited to customers, suppliers, debtors and creditors.

The Group has formulated the whistleblowing policy for employees and
other stakeholders of the Company to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties in operation, financial reporting or other matters
within the Company.

The Group takes integrity and honesty as the foundation of its business
development and established its anti-corruption policy to strictly monitor
and prohibit any corruptive behaviour. The Group develops guidelines on
anti-corruption in the employee handbook, encourages employees to
develop professional ethics and to follow the laws and regulations, and
prohibits corrupt practices. The Group also attaches great importance to
the education on integrity for the Directors and the employees, conducts
anti-corruption training, guidance to the new hires on the materials
relating to self-discipline in the employee handbook, and post the integrity
and self-discipline notice on bulletin boards, etc,, so as to actively promote
the corporate culture of integrity and honesty.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Group's external auditors are Ernst & Young, Certified Public
Accountants. In order to maintain their independence, objectivity and
effectiveness in performing the audit services, the audit committee pre-
approved all audit services and discussed with Ernst & Young, Certified
Public Accountants the nature and scope of the audit services.

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants in respect of audit services was RMB2,200,000.
The fee paid or payable to Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants for
non-audit services, namely review of unaudited interim results of the
Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022, was RMB800,000.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Own Code") on terms
no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Each Director has been
given a copy of the Own Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, each of them has confirmed that they have complied with the
Own Code and the Model Code throughout the Year.
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The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for
securities transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company and/or its securities. No
incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
relevant employees was noted by the Company during the Year. The
Company will notify the Directors and relevant employees of any restricted
period for dealings in the Company’s securities in advance.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Group has its shareholders’ communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”) to enhance long-term shareholder value through
regular communication with its shareholders, both individual and
institutional pursuant to the mandatory disclosure under Paragraph L of
the CG Code. The Group is also committed to maintaining a high degree of
transparency to ensure the investors and its shareholders receiving
accurate, clear, comprehensive of and timely information of the Group by
the publication of annual and interim reports, announcements and circular.
The Company publishes all corporate correspondence on the Company's
website at “www.chaowei.com.hk”.

The Board and the senior management also maintain effective on-going
dialogue communication with investors, analysts and the media to keep
them abreast of the Group's development, operations and plans through
various channels including roadshows, briefings and individual meetings
subject to compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. In addition,
the Group also made presentations and held group meetings with
investors at investor conference in connection with the Group'’s annual and
interim results. Members of the Board and the Board committees will
attend the annual general meeting of the Company and answer questions
raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions would be proposed at the
general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy and concluded that the Company has
properly carried out such policy and provided shareholders with ready,
equal and timely information during the Year. The Board will conduct
review annually of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy.
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GENERAL MEETINGS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a useful platform for
direct communication between the Board and the shareholders. Separate
resolutions are proposed on each substantially separate issue at the
general meetings.

The 2022 annual general meeting was held on 9 June 2022. The
attendance record of the Directors at the 2022 annual general meeting is
set out below:

BRRXE
ARRNBRRBFASGREZTSERERRER
RET—EERNTE  AARKRERRAE L
PEHEE L TRAMNEER2BEIRESR

TECCFEREAFREER_E-__FA
NERT - BEER-_E-—FEREAFASH
HE RS

Attendance/Number of
General Meeting

Name of Directors EEga HERS BRAERH
Executive Directors BMITESE
Mr. Zhou Mingming [EIBARA 5 A& Il
Mr. Zhou Longrui AR L& 0/1
Ms. Yang Yunfei BERL LT /1
Mr. Yang Xinxin SRR A 0/1
Non-executive Director JERITESE
Ms. Fang Jianjun FREELZ T 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFRITES
Mr. Wang Jigiang E SR A /1
Prof. Ouyang Minggao B 5 BF = 2R Il
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai THEELE /1
Mr. Ng Chi Kit REBEE 11

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code provides that non-executive directors
should attend general meetings to gain and develop a balanced
understanding of the views of shareholders, Ms. Fang Jianjun, the non-
executive Director, was unable to attend the Company’s annual general
meeting held on 9 June 2022 due to other business commitments.

The Company's external auditors also attended the 2022 annual general
meeting.

48 Chaowei Power Holdings Limited  /  Annual Report 2022

EEERTRNTARECI6IRREIFNITE
EREFERRRE  HBRRWEEE2E AL
TR FATES I EERTREMRKH
& EEREARARRAR T _FNANBET
MBRRBFEAE -

ARRINEZBRMTELE T - —FERFRE
FAE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company to allow the shareholders to share the
Company’s profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth. The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is
subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final
dividend will be subject to the approval of the shareholders. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia,
retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of
the members of the Group; the Group's liquidity position; the Group's
expected working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans; any restrictions on payment of dividends that
may be imposed by the Group’s lenders; and any other factors that the
Board deems appropriate.

The Company'’s ability to pay dividends is also subject to the requirements
of the Listing Rules and all relevant applicable laws, rules and regulations in
the Cayman Islands, Hong Kong and the articles of association of the
Company.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in its sole
and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend
Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders of the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the mandatory disclosure
requirement under Paragraph K of the CG Code:

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on requisition
by shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") to be called by the Board. The
written requisition must specify the business to be transacted on the
meeting, which shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
at Unit 1308A, 13/F, Lippo Sun Plaza, 28 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene an EGM, the shareholder(s) concerned may
themselves convene an EGM, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
shareholder(s) making the requisition as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed by the Company.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholder(s) may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are

as follows:

Address: Unit 1308A, 13/F, Lippo Sun Plaza, 28 Canton Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: ir@chaowei.com.hk

The Company Secretary shall forward the shareholder(s)" enquiries and
concerns to the Board and/or relevant Board committees of the Company,
where appropriate, to respond to the shareholder(s)’ questions.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

Any shareholder of the Company who wish to put forward proposals at
general meetings of the Company shall submit such proposals to the
Board in writing for the Board's consideration not less than 7 days prior to
the date of a general meeting through the Company Secretary of the
Company whose contact details are set out in the paragraph “Procedures
for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board” above.,

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There has been no change in the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company during the Year.
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The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with the
consolidated financial statements for the Year which have been audited by
the Company'’s auditors Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants and
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing and sales of
lead-acid motive batteries and other related products. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 53 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
For the business review of the Group for the Year, please refer to the
paragraph headed “Business Review” in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
An indication of the future development in the Group's business is shown
on page 19 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit of the Group for the Year and the state of the Company’s and the
Group's affairs as at 31 December 2022 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 80 to 223.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 80.

The Board proposed to declare a final dividend of HK$0.066 per share for
the financial year ended 31 December 2022, which shall be subject to
approval of the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 6 June 2023. The proposed final dividend is
expected to be paid on or around 14 July 2023.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Please refer to notes 4, 50 and 51 of the consolidated financial statements
for risks and uncertainties.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
approximately RMB6,017,000.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022, calculated
in accordance with the Companies Act (Cap. 22) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately RMB1,076,922,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association and there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of share capital of the Company during the Year are set out in note
42 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Mingming

Mr. Zhou Longrui

Ms. Yang Yunfei

Mr. Yang Xinxin

Non-executive Director
Ms. Fang Jianjun

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jigiang

Prof. Ouyang Minggao

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai

Mr. Ng Chi Kit

The Directors will retire by rotation in accordance with the requirement of
the articles of association of the Company and the Listing Rules. The non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for periods of 3 years.

A confirmation of independence has been received from each of Mr. Wang
Jigiang, Prof. Ouyang Minggao, Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai and Mr. Ng Chi
Kit and the Company considers each of them as independent pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 164 of the Company’s articles of association provides that the
Directors, secretary and other officers and every auditor for the time being
of the Company and the liquidator or trustees (if any) for the time being
acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company and everyone of
them, and everyone of their heirs, executors and administrators, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts; and none of them shall
be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of the other or
others of them or for joining in any receipts for the sake of conformity, or
for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or effects
belonging to the Company shall or may be lodged or deposited for safe
custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any
moneys of or belonging to the Company shall be placed out on or
invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in
the execution of their respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto;
PROVIDED THAT this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of
any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and the Company’s
chief executive in the shares (the “Shares”) or debentures of the Company
or associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO,
which will have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/
or short positions which he/she is taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein or which will be
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, are set
out below:
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Long positions in the Shares
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REHHEFE

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding

in the Company/
Associated
Corporations
Number of BRFEAT
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares FHE R E R iE
E=gR 5 HaKHE EH®AE gHEsit
Mr. Zhou Mingming™@®@ Interest in controlled corporations, 422,887,000 38.30%
("Mr. Zhou") interest in spouse and beneficial owner
JEIBAER 5t 4 26 REEEELs  REERNERERA
(TA%LED
Ms. Fang Jianjun® Interest in a controlled corporation, 422,887,000 38.30%
FEEr L interest in spouse and beneficial owner
REEEELD  REERNERERA
Mr. Zhou Longrui® Interest in a controlled corporation, 62,100,000 5.62%
JERetm L interest in spouse and beneficial owner
RErEER  EREELRERERA
Ms. Yang Yunfei® Interest in a controlled corporation, 62,100,000 5.62%
BERLLTY interest in spouse and beneficial owner
REEEELD  REERNERERA
Mr. Yang Xinxin® Interest in a controlled corporation 20,000,000 1.81%

R AL ©

and beneficial owner
I EEER N EEEA A
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Notes:

(1)

@)

3)

“)

)

(©)

7)

@8
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Mr. Zhou is interested in the entire issued share capital of Great State Investments Limited
(“Great State”) and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 248,407,500 Shares held by
Great State.

Mr. Zhou is interested in the entire issued share capital of Jolly Pride (PTC) Limited (“Jolly Pride”)
and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 58,942,500 Shares held by Jolly Pride. In
addition, pursuant to a trust deed dated 14 June 2010 and deeds of exclusion of beneficiaries
dated 30 May 2014 and 13 October 2014, entered into between Mr. Zhou and Jolly Pride in
favour of 49 individuals who are employees of the Group (collectively, the “Jolly Pride Trust
Deed"), the economic interest of all the Shares which it holds from time to time shall belong to
the said 49 employees. However, other than the economic interest in the Shares, all other
rights as shareholders (including but not limited to voting rights and right to participate in
shareholders meetings of the Company) shall not be exercisable by the said 49 employees and
shall be exercised by Jolly Pride exclusively. As Mr. Zhou is the sole director of Jolly Pride, Mr.
Zhou also controls the exercise of the shareholders rights (other than economic interest) of all
the Shares held by Jolly Pride by virtue of the terms of the Jolly Pride Trust Deed.

Mr. Zhou directly holds 3,900,000 Shares.

Mr. Zhou is the spouse of Ms. Fang Jianjun. Pursuant to the SFO, he is deemed to be interested
in 111,637,000 Shares which Ms. Fang Jianjun is interested by reason of her being the sole
shareholder of Bai Xiang Limited (“Bai Xiang”).

Ms. Fang Jianjun is interested in the entire issued share capital of Bai Xiang and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 111,637,000 Shares held by Bai Xiang. In addition, as Ms. Fang
Jianjun is the spouse of Mr. Zhou, pursuant to the SFO, she is deemed to be interested in the
3,900,000 Shares directly held by Mr. Zhou, and in the 248,407,500 Shares and 58,942,500
Shares which Mr. Zhou is interested by reason of his being the sole shareholder of Great State
and Jolly Pride.

Mr. Zhou Longrui is interested in the entire issued share capital of High Joy Investments
Limited ("High Joy”") and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 25,875,000 Shares held by
High Joy. In addition, as Mr. Zhou Longrui is the spouse of Ms. Yang Yunfei, pursuant to the
SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the 36,225,000 Shares which Ms. Yang Yunfei is interested
by reason of her being the sole shareholder of Shiny Century Limited (“Shiny Century”).

Ms. Yang Yunfei is interested in the entire issued share capital of Shiny Century and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 36,225,000 Shares held by Shiny Century. In addition, as Ms.
Yang Yunfei is the spouse of Mr. Zhou Longrui, pursuant to the SFO, she is also deemed to be
interested in the 25,875,000 Shares which Mr. Zhou Longrui is interested by reason of him
being the sole shareholder of High Joy.

Mr. Yang Xinxin is interested in the entire issued share capital of Tong Sheng Limited (“Tong
Sheng”) and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 20,000,000 Shares held by Tong Sheng.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as the Directors were aware, the following
persons have interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the
Group.
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Approximate

Number of Percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares Shareholding
£1 57 HaKty B E EEEHESLLE
Mr. ZhouM2e® Interest in controlled corporations, 422,887,000 (L) 38.30%
A S A e interest of spouse and beneficial owner

R EEELD  REERRERERA
Great State® Beneficial owner 248,407,500 (L) 22.50%
R FBO EHEAA
Jolly Pride® Beneficial owner 58,942,500 (L) 5.34%
gEo TR A A
Ms. Fang Jianjun® Interest in controlled corporations, 422,887,000 (L) 38.30%
HEEr L interest of spouse and beneficial owner

R LE R  EBERNEREAA
Bai Xiang(5) Beneficial owner 111,637,000 (L) 10.11%
BFES BEREAA
Mr. Zhou Longrui® Interest in a controlled corporation, 62,100,000 (L) 5.62%
BES it interest of spouse and beneficial owner

R rEELs  REESRERERA
High Joy®© Beneficial owner 25,875,000 (L) 2.34%
S BEREAA
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Approximate
Number of Percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares Shareholding
E1 57 HaKH B E BiESva St
Ms. Yang Yunfei?” Interest in a controlled corporation, 62,100,000 (L) 5.62%
BERLLT? interest of spouse and beneficial owner
RErEELs  REERRERERA
Shiny Century” Beneficial owner 36,225,000 (L) 3.28%
ACERO BEamlBA
Tianneng International Investment Interest in a controlled corporation 111,680,000 (L) 10.11%

Holdings Limited®

and beneficial owner
AR REREEA

(L): Long position

Notes:

(1)

@)

3)

)
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Mr. Zhou is interested in the entire issued share capital of Great State and is therefore deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Great State.

Mr. Zhou is interested in the entire issued share capital of Jolly Pride and is therefore deemed
to be interested in the 58,942,500 Shares held by Jolly Pride. In addition, pursuant to the Jolly
Pride Trust Deed, the economic interest of all the Shares which it holds from time to time shall
belong to the said 49 employees. However, other than the economic interest in the Shares, all
other rights as shareholders (including but not limited to voting rights and right to participate
in shareholders meetings of our Company) shall not be exercisable by the said 49 employees
and shall be exercised by Jolly Pride exclusively. As Mr. Zhou is the sole director of Jolly Pride,
Mr. Zhou also controls the exercise of the shareholders rights (other than economic interest) of
all the Shares held by Jolly Pride by virtue of the terms of the Jolly Pride Trust Deed.

Mr. Zhou directly holds 3,900,000 Shares.
Mr. Zhou is the spouse of Ms. Fang Jianjun. Pursuant to the SFO, he is also deemed to be

interested in all the Shares which Ms. Fang Jianjun is interested by reason of her being the sole
shareholder of Bai Xiang.
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5)

(©)

7)

8

Ms. Fang Jianjun is interested in the entire issued share capital of Bai Xiang and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Bai Xiang. In addition, as Ms. Fang Jianjun is
the spouse of Mr. Zhou, pursuant to the SFO, she is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
directly held by Mr. Zhou, and in all the Shares which Mr. Zhou is interested by reason of him
being the sole shareholder of Great State and Jolly Pride.

Mr. Zhou Longrui is interested in the entire issued share capital of High Joy and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by High Joy. In addition, as Mr. Zhou Longrui is
the spouse of Ms. Yang Yunfei, pursuant to the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares which Ms. Yang Yunfei is interested by reason of her being the sole shareholder of
Shiny Century.

Ms. Yang Yunfei is interested in the entire issued share capital of Shiny Century and is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Shiny Century. In addition, as Ms. Yang
Yunfei is the spouse of Mr. Zhou Longrui, pursuant to the SFO, she is also deemed to be
interested in all the Shares which Mr. Zhou Longrui is interested by reason of him being the
sole shareholder of High Joy.

Tianneng International Investment Holdings Limited directly holds 56,680,000 Shares and is
interested in 55,000,000 Shares through Zhejiang Tianneng Innovation Investment
Management Co,, Ltd. (HT/T KGERIFTIR A EFEAR 22 7]) and the entities controlled by
it.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Director to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and the Senior Management are
set out on pages 26 to 31.

2010 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme on 7 June
2010 (the "2010 Share Option Scheme”), which became effective on 7 July
2010. The 2010 Share Option Scheme had a term of 10 years and expired
on 6 July 2020. No further options can be granted or offered but all
outstanding share options granted under the 2010 Share Option Scheme
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the provisions of
the 2010 Share Option Scheme.
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Details of the movement of share options granted under the 2010 Share  ANFERIFE T —TFEERET 2R HOERE

Option Scheme for the Year are as follows: HEE ST
Exercise  Outstanding Outstanding
Price per asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat
Category and Share 1January during during during during  31December
Name of Participants Date of Grant (HKS) 2022 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2022
RZ8-Z RZ8-Z
BRITER -R-H +ZA=1+-H
BEEZRURLA LLiLE (¥7) ARTE FFECRY FEECHE FERCHE FERDEN ARITE
Directors
s
Mr. Zhou Mingming 4 April 2018" 4332 500,000 - - 500,000 - -
FHRALE ZZ-/\¥mARAY
21 December 20182 304 350000 - - 350000 - -
Z2-\E+ZA-t-RAY
25 March 2019% 309 150000 - - 150000 - -
ZE-NEZAZTERY
Mr. Zhou Longrui 4 poril 2018" 4332 500000 - - 500000 - -
BERtE ZZ-/\¥MARAY
21 December 2018% 304 350000 - - 350000 - -
B\t Azt-Re
25 March 2019° 309 150000 - - 150000 - -
ZE-AFZAZHERY
Ms. Yang Yunfei 4 poril 2018" 4332 500000 - - 500000 - -
AERL $-N\FmARAY
21 Decemboer 2018" 3114 350000 - - 350000 - -
B\t Azt-Re
25 March 2019° 309 150000 - - 150000 - -
ZE-AFZAZHERY
Mr. Yang Xinxin 4 poril 2018" 4332 500000 - - 500000 - -
orikiiy Z2-/\¥MARAY
21 December 20182 314 350000 - - 350000 - -
Z2-\E+ZA-t-AY
25 March 2019° 309 150000 - - 150000 - -
ZE-NEZAZTERY
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Exercise  Outstanding Outstanding
Price per asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat
Category and Share 1January during during during during 31 December
Name of Participants Date of Grant (HKS) 2022 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2022
W-gZZ R-EZZE
BRITER -R-H +ZA=+-H
SHERIRMNE Eitan (%7 AAfTE FEECRH FEERTE FEECHE FEEDEN ARITE
Ms. Fang Jianjun 4 April 2018 433) 500000 - - 500000 - -
FRENL ZT-\EMARAY
21 December 20187 314 350,000 - - 350,000 - -
- NEtzA=t-Be
25March 20199 309 150000 - - 150000 - -
ZE-NEZAZTRAY
Mr.Wang Jigiang 4 April 2018 433) 250000 - - 250000 - -
TEREE “5-\§mARmAY
21 December 20187 3114 250,000 - - 250,000 - -
ZE-\ETIACT-RY
25March 20199 309 100,000 - - 100,000 - -
ZE-NEZAZTRAY
Prof, Ouyang Minggao 4 April 2018" 433 250000 - - 250000 - -
BBARER ZT-\EMARAY
21 December 20187 3114 250,000 - - 250,000 - -
ZE-\ETIACT-RY
25March 20199 309 100,000 - - 100,000 - -
ZE-NEZAZTRAY
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai 4 April 2018 433) 250000 - - 250000 - -
FRELE ZT-\EMARAY
21 December 20187 3114 250,000 - - 250,000 - -
“F Azt
25March 20199 309 100,000 - - 100,000 - -
ZE-NEZAZTRAY
Mr.Ng ChiKit 4 April 2018 433) 250000 - - 250000 - -
REHEE ZT-\EMARAY
21 December 20187 3114 250,000 - - 250,000 - -
ZE-\ETIACT-RY
25March 20199 309 100,000 - - 100,000 - -
ZE-NEZAZTRAY
Employees 21 December 20187 3114 33,000,000 - - 33,000,000 - -
| Z2-\EtZAzt-RY
25 March 20199 309 29,500,000 - - - - 29,500,000
ZE-NEZAZTERY
Total
@t 69900000 - - 40400000 - 29500000

62 Chaowei Power Holdings Limited  /

Annual Report 2022



Notes:

(1) Validity period
of the share
options:

Vesting dates
of the share

options:

Performance

target:

2

)

Validity period
of the share
options:

Vesting dates of
the share
options:

Performance
target:

3

Nl

Validity period
of the share
options:

Vesting dates
of the share
options:

Performance

target:

The share options granted shall vest in the proposed grantees in
accordance with the timetable below, each with an exercise period

commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 8 years after the

date of grant.

(a) 10% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on4 April 2018

() 20% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 4 April 2019

(c) 70% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 4 April 2020

Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of
certain performance targets as set out in the respective offer letters, during

the validity period of the share options.

The share options granted shall vest in the proposed grantees in
accordance with the timetable below, each with an exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 8 years after the
date of grant.

(a) 10% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 21 December 2018

(b) 20% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 21 December 2019

(c) 70% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 21 December 2020

Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of
certain performance targets as set out in the respective offer letters, during
the validity period of the share options.

The share options granted shall vest in the proposed grantees in
accordance with the timetable below, each with an exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 8 years after the

date of grant.

(a) 10% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 25March 2019

(b) 20% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 25 March 2020

(c) 70% of the total number of the share options granted shall vest
on 25 March 2021

Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of
certain performance targets as set out in the respective offer letters, during
the validity period of the share options.

The closing prices of the Shares on 3 April 2018, 20 December 2018 and 22
March 2019, being the dates immediately before the dates of the share
options were granted, were HK$4.32, HK$3.04 and HK$3.09 per Share,

respectively.
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The fair value of the share options under the 2010 Share Option Scheme in
aggregate was estimated at HK$121,403,000. The estimated fair values of
the options granted to the Directors on 4 April 2018, 21 December 2018
and 25 March 2019 were HK$5,266,000, HK$2,981,000 and HK$1,266,000,
respectively. The estimated fair values of the share options granted to the
Group's eligible employees on 4 April 2018, 21 December 2018 and 25
March 2019 were HK$43,636,000, HK$35,769,000 and HK$32,485,000,
respectively. These fair values were calculated using the Binomial Model
and the values of options are subjects to a number of assumptions and
with regard to the limitation of such model. The inputs into the model
were as follows:

—E-THFERESIETERENATEG K
H5H4121,403000787C - R=E— \FMAMA -

2 NFF+ZAZ+—BRZZE-—NF=H
ZThHHREZESEENBRENGETAFEED
755,266,000 78 7T ~ 2,981,000 78 7T K 1,266,000 78 JT, ©
RZE-NFONABAB ZE—N\F+=A
AR E-NEFZAZTHAMLEEES
EREERINBRENGTATFES A
43,636,00078 7T ~ 35,769,000 7T & 32,485,00078 7T, ©

AZERNFEDIER S

B R

- B RAEE

BAXZRMBZMAR - LEABEXZRHIBGRE -
ZRAMBABEIT

4 April 21 December 25 March

2018 2018 2019

—E-N\F —E-N\F ZE-NF

WAMAE +=—A=+—H =ZAZ=-+#hH

Grant date share price B BEARE HKD4.183 HKD3.05 HKD3.09
4183 87T 3.05 87T 30978 7T

Exercise price 1TEE HKD4.332 HKD3.114 HKD3.09
43327870 31148 7T 30978 7T

Expected life TEHASF R 8 years 8 years 8 years
84 84F 85

Expected volatility T8 AR I 475% 45.8% 45.6%
Dividend yield &% Bk s 2 1.8% 1.7% 1.7%
Risk-free interest rate 2 [ P ) 2= 1.84% 2.00% 1.50%

Volatility was estimated on the share price movement of the Company for
an observation period that match with the life of the share option.
Dividend yield is based on management estimate at the valuation date.
Risk-free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of the Hong Kong
Government Bonds with a maturity life closest to the life to expiration, as of
the option grant date.

During the Year, no share option under the 2010 Share Option Scheme had
been vested or exercised. As at 31 December 2022, 29,500,000 share
options granted under the 2010 Share Option Scheme remained
outstanding. 40,400,000 share options under the 2010 Share Option
Scheme were cancelled during the Year.

The table showing movements in the Company’s share options held by the
Group's employees (including directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries) and valuation of the share options are also set out in the
section headed “Share-based Payment Transactions” under Note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements. The accounting policy adopted for the
share options is also set out in Notes 3.2 and 43.

2020 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Since the 2010 Share Option Scheme expired on 6 July 2020, the adoption
of a new share option scheme was proposed by the Board and approved
by the shareholders on 10 June 2020 (the “2020 Share Option Scheme”).
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The purpose of the 2020 Share Option Scheme is to give the eligible
persons an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Group and help
motivate them to optimize their future performance and efficiency to the
Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining ongoing relationships with such eligible
persons who are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group, and in the
case of executives, enabling the Group to attract and retain such
individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past
contributions.

The Board may, offer (a) any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position
in any member of the Group (the “Executive”), any full-time or part-time
employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or
part-time for any member of the Group (collectively, the “Employee”), (b) a
director (including an independent non-executive director) of any member
of the Group, (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the
Group, (d) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group, (e)
a customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee or
contractor of any member of the Group, and (f) a person or entity that
provides design, research, development or other support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group,
who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute
to the Group, options to subscribe for Shares on the terms set out in the
2020 Share Option Scheme. The amount payable on acceptance of an
option is HKD1.00. Details of the 2020 Share Option Scheme were provided
in the Company's circular dated 29 April 2020.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the 2020 Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as of 10 June 2020 (the “Adoption Date”), being
110,412,697 Shares, which represented about approximately 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. The
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2020 Share
Option Scheme and any other options granted and yet to be exercised
under any other scheme shall not exceed 30% of the Company's issued
share capital from time to time. No option may be granted to any person
such that the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of options granted and to be granted to that person in any
12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the
Company's issued share capital from time to time, unless the approval of
the Company’s shareholders is obtained.
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Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board may in its absolute
discretion when offering the grant of an option impose any conditions,
restrictions or limitations in relation thereto in addition to those set out in
the 2020 Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit, including the
time or period before the right to exercise the option in respect of all or
any of the Shares shall vest, provided that such terms or conditions shall
not be inconsistent with any other terms or conditions of the 2020 Share
Option Scheme.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2020
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the
Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant under the
2020 Share Option Scheme. There is no minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised. Participants of the 2020
Share Option Scheme are required to pay the Company HK$1.0 upon
acceptance of the grant on or before 28 days after the offer date. The
exercise price of the options is determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(@) the nominal value of a Share;

(b)  the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets on the offer date; and

(c)  theaverage closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding
the offer date.

The 2020 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the Adoption Date, after which no further options will be
granted or offered.

No share options were granted, cancelled or lapsed under the 2020 Share
Option Scheme during the Year.

The total number of options available for grant under scheme mandate
limit of the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the 2020 Share Option Scheme
at the beginning and the end of the Year is 110,412,697 options. The total
number of shares that may be issued in respect of options granted under
the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the 2020 Share Option Scheme during
the Year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the
Year is 2.67%.

Apart from the 2010 Share Option Scheme and the 2020 Share Option
Scheme, at no time during the Year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies or subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS, CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest in, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year save as disclosed under the sub-
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” below and “Related
Party Transactions” in note 52 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing Connected Transactions”
below and “Related Party Transactions” in note 52 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Director or controlling shareholder or any of their
respective subsidiaries had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group, to which the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

During the Year, no contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was made.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not determinable by the employing company within 1 year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES
During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed Shares.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with all code provisions of the CG Code
throughout the Year except for the deviations to the code provision C.2.1
and C.1.6 of the CG Code. For details, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report starting on page 32 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee. For details, please
refer to the paragraph headed “Audit Committee” of the Corporate
Governance Report set out on pages 38 to 39 of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group emphasises the importance of personal development of
individual employees. The Group has in place remuneration policies to
ensure providing adequate rewards to employees with recognised
experience for the assigned roles and duties. The Group also provides other
benefits including bonuses and shares as incentives.

The Group places high priority on maintaining good relationship with our
customers. The Group always strives to maximize customers satisfaction
and to add value for our customers. The Group identifies areas for
improvement. Customer's complaints once acknowledged and reported
will be dealt with timely, fairly and diligently.

The Group values mutually beneficial long-term relationships with its
suppliers. The Group continues to perfect its procurement process and
mechanism, and supports suppliers to make better management that
enable developments in the supply chain for both suppliers and the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers during the Year is as follows:

2.26%/9.18%
8.36%/31.51%

The largest customer/supplier
Five largest customers/suppliers in aggregate

At no time during the Year had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company'’s share capital had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
During the Year, the Group achieved 100% cadmium-free production and
has fully applied cadmium-free enclosed battery formulation process.

In parallel with enlarging its economic benefits and continuously
enhancing production technology, the Group has adhered to its
environmental protection philosophy of minimizing consumption of
resources, pollution and emissions. The Group continues to advocate the
harmonious and symbiotic relationship between business and the
environment to fulfil its long-term goal of “green production”. To guide the
lead-acid battery industry towards green, healthy and sustainable
development, the Group has united enterprises both upstream and
downstream in a lead-acid battery industry alliance for promoting green
development and recycling during the Year. Through a series of activities
intended to improve the brand image, the Group has strived to become
the top green energy brand in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and the
Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in
the PRC. The Group’s establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.
During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has complied
with all the relevant laws and regulations in all material aspects.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, a member of the Group continued to be a party to the
following continuing connected transactions which are subject to
announcements and reporting requirements but exempt from
shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules by reason of
all of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) being
less than 5% on an annual basis and the annual cap amount exceeding
HK$3,000,000:

Purchase of battery production equipment

Chaowei Power Group Co., Ltd. (“Chaowei Power") and Zhejiang Doulan
Intelligence Equipment Co,, Ltd (“Zhejiang Doulan”), a connected person of
the Company by virtue of Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules, entered into a
battery production equipment purchase agreement (the “Battery
Production Equipment Purchase Agreement”) dated 29 December 2015,
by which Zhejiang Doulan has agreed to supply batteries intelligence
manufacturing equipment and ancillary facilities to Chaowei Power for a
term of 3 years from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018, renewable upon
expiry (subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Listing
Rules regarding continuing connected transactions). Zhejiang Doulan is
60% owned by Mr. Zhou Mingming and is therefore an associate of Mr.
Zhou and a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the Battery Production Equipment Purchase Agreement,
Chaowei Power agreed to purchase batteries intelligence manufacturing
equipment and ancillary facilities from Zhejiang Doulan from time to time
at price with reference to actual costs (including labour costs, costs of
materials, technology development costs, rental expenses and
depreciation expenses related to batteries intelligence manufacturing
equipment and ancillary facilities ordered by Chaowei Power) plus
reasonable gross profit margin of Zhejiang Doulan, ranging from 20% to
25%, which is, to the best knowledge the Company, in line with the then
market practice as for the Company engaged in the similar industry and
with the similar scale, which shall not, in any event, be higher than the
prices of the products with comparable nature and scale charged by other
independent third party suppliers. For the purpose of ensuring the
consideration being fair and reasonable, the Company has taken into
account the following factors:

(1) the quotations from independent third parties for similar projects;
and

(2)  the historical price of similar projects procured by the Group.

For the 3 years ended 31 December 2018, the proposed annual cap
amounts for the transactions under the Battery Production Equipment
Purchase Agreement are set at RMB80,000,000, RMB110,000,000 and
RMB150,000,000, respectively (tax excluded).

Further details of the said transaction was set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 29 December 2015.

On 28 December 2018, Chaowei Power renewed the Battery Production
Equipment Purchase Agreement by entering into another battery
production equipment purchase agreement (the “Battery Production
Equipment Purchase Agreement (2019-2021)") with Zhejiang Doulan for
another term of three years commencing from 1 January 2019 and ending
on 31 December 2021, renewable upon expiry (subject to compliance with
the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules regarding continuing connected
transactions).

For the 3 years ended 31 December 2021, the proposed annual cap
amounts for the transactions under the Battery Production Equipment
Purchase Agreement (2019-2021) are set at RMB40,000,000, RMB40,000,000
and RMB50,000,000 respectively (tax excluded).

70 Chaowei Power Holdings Limited  /  Annual Report 2022

RIFBBEER %ﬁ%/\ﬁ% - RV R R B N
AT EMBE RN TR EERBREERE -
EBR2EZERENA (BREBRERMIBEELE

BEAEERERIEERMEEBNS TRA - MRS -
Ezmﬁ'-ﬁ%’é% HEeREIRITERT) SMEEEMHM

STERBEERR (N F20% = 25% » EARAAIFTEL
ME@K AMEBRUTEREBLURENARM
T AEERNMSEN) BEE  HEEEEER
THIEeREMBYE = HEMMEMEE RH
BREENERMKEBNER - BRERREBAT
B AARIEFEATHEE -

(1) BAE=TTRBLURENRE : &

2 AKEFTRBRACUARRBEES -

BHE_T-N\FT+_A=1T—HLE=ZEFE €
Aﬂi? SEBEHRR TR I ZEZFELRSE

By R E A AR 00000007t AR
110,000,000 7T &2 A FR#& 150,000,000 7T (& 1) °

MRZ2E-—THBHRARRBRAR T
*ﬂi—f— AZthBRzRE-

RZZF-N\FT-A=1+/\B  BEERENT
T ﬁﬂu]—iﬁ_fﬁaﬁﬂﬂig SEBEE (S
MEERBEBERZ(CE-NFE_T-_—F)))
ERSHLEERBEERE  BEHZ=F#&
—E-NF-A-HREBE-_T-_—F+_H
=t+—H1E - ATRERRES (MAEET ETRA
ERSEREEXSNRBMRTE) -

BE_Z--—F+_A=+—HUL=EFE" T
MEERBREERZE (T NAFE_FT_—F)
ATRGNEZFELREEIIE/ARE

40,0000007T © A R ®40,0000007T & A R ¥
50,000,000 TT (&) °



Further details of the said transaction was set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 28 December 2018.

On 17 December 2021, Chaowei Power renewed the Battery Production
Equipment Purchase Agreement (2019-2021) by entering into another
battery production equipment purchase agreement (the “Battery
Production Equipment Purchase Agreement (2022-2024)") with Zhejiang
Doulan for another term of three years commencing from 1 January 2022
and ending on 31 December 2024, renewable upon expiry (subject to
compliance with the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules regarding
continuing connected transactions).

For the 3 years ending 31 December 2024, the proposed annual cap
amounts for the transactions under the Battery Production Equipment
Purchase Agreement (2022-2024) are set at RMB40,000,000, RMB40,000,000
and RMB40,000,000 respectively (tax excluded).

During the Year, purchase of batteries intelligence manufacturing
equipment and ancillary facilities from Zhejiang Doulan amounted to
approximately RMB18,619,000, which is within the 2022 annual cap of
RMB40,000,000.

Further details of the said transaction was set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 17 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, none of the other transactions set out in note 52
to the financial statement constituted a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

REVIEW BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDITORS OF THE COMPANY

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions of the Group and have confirmed that
these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i)~ onnormal commercial terms; and
(i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor
of the Company to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 69 to 71 of this annual report
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE DEED OF NON-COMPETITION
Each of Mr. Zhou Mingming, Great State and Jolly Pride (collectively the
"Controlling Shareholders”) has confirmed that for the Year, each of them
has complied with the deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-
competition”) dated 7 June 2010 executed by the Controlling Shareholders
in favour of the Company. There has not been any opportunity in any
restricted business (being business which is or may be in competition with
the business of any member of the Group from time to time) being referred
by the Controlling Shareholders to the Company for the Year. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the compliance of
the Deed of Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders for the Year
and considered the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Deed
of Non-competition during the Year.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION SUMMARY
A financial information summary of the Group is set out on page 224 of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, and up to the date of this annual report, none of the
Directors are considered to have interests in any business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group, pursuant to the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Except for service contracts with the Directors or persons engaged in full
time employment of the Company, no contracts concerning the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, during the Year and as at the date
of this annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as auditor of the
Company with effect from 9 June 2022 and Ernst & Young has been
appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy following the
resignation of Deloitte.

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by Ernst &
Young, Certified Public Accountants who will retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Mingming
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
27 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3L 8% BB 3

e
EY::

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHAOWEI POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chaowei Power
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 223, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
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our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

MREZER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESERTRERRERFEROSE

Estimated credit loss (ECL) allowance for trade receivables
BkESERHARMEEGRER

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's trade receivables amounted
to approximately RMB2,235 million. We identified ECL for trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of this
allowance to the consolidated financial statements and the
management’s estimates involved in estimating ECL for trade
receivables at the end of the reporting period.
RZBZZF+ZHA=+—H ' EEENERKEZFIERLD
RARME2235BETT - AR ZBBEHGAVBEBRERNEE
MUARERERBREHARGARKE ZRERROFEHEEES
B EE R BN E SRR ERAEEBER
PRBERERZEE -

Except for the debtors in severe financial difficulty, which are
assessed for impairment loss individually, the Group uses a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings to assess ECL on
trade receivables collectively. The estimated loss rates are
estimated based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

bR BR 22 B 1S IR B e B TS A B B AT R E B BN - RNEE
ERTEAS T ENBERERERTHE ZRKERRIEN
FREEEREE - BRI DREELERINEBAE
HERANBLHXME  WREEF AL EHNAKSE
TR G R ATIE 4 B RETTIEE -

At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.
REREHR  HELERINENTETEHNNE - X
ZRAEEERNED -

Relevant disclosures of ECL for trade receivables are set out in
note 3, 4, 28 and 51(c) to the consolidated financial statements.
EWEZERNEREEEENEAERSH NG S BR
RMFE3 - 4 28 %5100 °

Our procedures in relation to estimated loss allowance for trade
receivables included:

BMABRNEZRRNEREEERNEFEE

We obtained an understanding of, evaluated and tested
management’s key controls which management adopted
for the estimation of loss allowance for trade receivables.
B2 T SHEIAHERERRNEE K E 5
TEE R BRI B o

We assessed the management's loss allowance estimates
by examining the information used by management to
form such judgements and estimates, including:
HfRBREEIREANESA BAEREFTOHER
NeHEE R BIEL B RE AL - 8215

i) Evaluating the customer’s repayment history by
checking the settlement evidence of the trade
receivables to cash receipt and testing the aging
profile of trade receivables to sales invoices and
other relevant documents, on a sample basis; and

) BEBARMEKRERSWENAZHEKE 5 ERFE
B - W BRI E E T KCHE AR RE R DR
HAEWE ZEREFRIERE - LI EEPRERESL
K

i) Evaluating whether the historical loss rates were
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

i)  FAHMEBEEBHNERRLEEHAL - LEERIE
HEEE B o

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to the
loss allowance for trade receivables in the context of the
applicable financial reporting framework.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 3L % 8 Eh &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

MREZER

FREEXER(HE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESERTRERRFRERNSE

Warranty provision
R IEE
As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s warranty provision
amounted to approximately RMB590 million. We identified
warranty provision as a key audit matter due to the significance of
this provision to the consolidated financial statements and the
management'’s estimates involved in estimating warranty
provision at the end of the reporting period.
RZZB_—_F+-A=+—H SEEENERIBBEH/A
EVH%S%ET%?E HRRBRELHFSVBRRREEER
REHIRB S M RERBIELOGETMEZREX
Jkt%iﬂ“jEEEEZ%{%%E%E%TZ%IE 2

Estimated costs related to product warranty are accrued at the
time of sale based on cost incurred on the past warranty claims
and unit sales history and further adjusted to reflect actual costs
incurred when information becomes available.
EmRERBONGARNANEERENBERERRESL
R AR B HETATAR - WERMEEMELHE—F
AR ARBREERAA -

Relevant disclosures of the warranty provision are set out in notes
4 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

RERBOERRBERN RS M RARMES %38

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual

Our procedures in relation to warranty provision included:

HMERREFERBRANEF 2

Evaluating the methodologies used by the management
for estimating warranty provision;

FHAEEE G RERBIRA

Testing the underlying data and challenging the
assumptions used by the management based on past
events in estimating warranty provision and changes in
market conditions; and
REBEFTRERENBEEERTRECRIF AR
BEREESEEEMARRK &

Verifying the actual warranty cost incurred subsequent to
the end of reporting period and comparing to the warranty
provision made at the end of the reporting period.
REREPREEFLNBERERINAN @ I BHRERR
EfEH H’Jf%ﬁﬁéﬁ EITHLE ©

Htts|=#
BERREFHEMENAR - RMENEREFR
FREVE R - HEAR B TSR AN BB IR SRR I) -

report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the R MHGZREPKHENER I BREHME R

other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’'s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 3L % 8 Eh &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

BRHMFEZRSMERROREGE)

RIFERFAEAETESE  RABRERR

RAE  REBREEEE - RN

78

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Shun Lung Wai.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FERERAMEENZE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE—_Z-_—+-_A=+—HI&E

0 2021
—T - —F
Notes 000 RMB'000
Bt 5 i ARBT T
Revenue A 5 31,930,551 29,488,819
Cost of sales B E A (28,229,034) (26,164,322)
Gross profit ER 3,701,517 3,324,497
Other income HABUA 7 423,472 473,528
Other gains and other losses Hoh Yz K HAth 518 28,881 (74,197)
Distribution and selling expenses DN HE R (1,045,058) (839 687)
Administrative expenses TR (573,252) (514,724)
Research and development expenses R (1,097,402) (929,292)
Impairment losses under expected BHEEERENE THRERESE
credit loss model, net of reversal B O] 9 (253,092) (328,515)
Finance costs BB 10 (370,373) (321,846)
Share of result of joint ventures EiEE 2D EEE 2,965 (1,987)
Share of result of associates FELER & A A& 1R 419 (3,160)
Profit before tax s A5 AT AR 11 818,077 784,617
Income tax expense s Eif X 14 (230,228) (249,532)
Profit for the year FRFIE 587,849 535,085
Other comprehensive income: Hig 2wz :
Items that may be reclassified HiE @B R R BmrEE -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of B E BINESH IERENEL ZE
financial statements of foreign
operations (871) 3,593
Fair value (loss)/gain on receivables at  1ZAFEzF A E 2 mE U
fair value through other (fﬁ”i@?‘l’)\ﬁ{ﬁ%ﬁﬂ&ﬁ?ﬂ)
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") HEUGRIB A FE (F58), s (6,702) 526
Other comprehensive income $W§ﬂ2ﬁl&ﬁ » IBRFR B R
for the year, net of income tax (7,573) 4,119
Total comprehensive income FAZEIEREHE
for the year 580,276 539,204
Profit for the year attributable to: ATATEEEAFE
Owners of the Company PIN/NETEZ 2SN 417,181 516,269
Non-controlling interests I 170,668 18,816
587,849 535,085
Total comprehensive income ATATEEFAZEKGEEE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIEZZ =N 409,608 520,388
Non-controlling interests IR 170,668 18,816
580,276 539,204
Earnings per share BRAR
— Basic and diluted (RMB) —ERNEE(AR%ETT) 15 0.38 047
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEEMBRRAE

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

R-B-__F+-_A=+—H
0 2021
. —F-—F
Notes 000 RMB'000
iz i ARBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERERE
Property, plant and equipment M R N RE 17 4,967,101 4,773,860
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 537,214 536,178
Investment properties KA 19 1,107 1,650
Goodwill EES 20 49,447 49,447
Intangible assets B EE 21 147,272 205,582
Interests in joint ventures RE S E S 22 70,539 72,134
Interests in associates PN R/NE] 23 39,696 43,089
Equity instruments at FVTOC BAEES AR MR EKER
I A 24 11,118 5,300
Loan receivables FEUE X 25 48,297 44,928
Deferred tax assets RIENIA & 2 26 630,182 579,629
Other receivables E e ERIE 30 - 11,154
Amounts due from related parties JFE Uik B B 5 508 52 77,293 18,616
Deposits paid for acquisition of WM - B E REREATIES
property, plant and equipment 351,705 240,855
6,930,971 6,582,422
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Inventories FE 27 3,981,978 3,923,961
Loan receivables FEW & X 25 25,980 35,039
Trade receivables FEUE SRR 28 2,234,847 2,205,165
Receivables at FVTOCI BAFES AR MR EKEN
W R IE 29 2,365,207 1,660,973
Prepayments, other receivables and TERTRRIE - Hoh FE IR IE K
other assets HEMEE 30 1,194,963 1,464,904
Financial assets at fair value through BAEEAEBE ([ERAFEE
profit or loss ("FVTPL") FFABRDEREE 31 122,927 214,500
Derivative financial instruments TESRIEA 32 - 1,392
Amounts due from related parties JiE Uk BB 5 SR IE 52 72,600 91,761
Restricted bank deposits SR HISRTTIE X 33 890,887 1,143,032
Bank balances and cash RITHER NI 33 2,157,975 2,860,613
13,047,364 13,601,340
CURRENT LIABILITIES nERAR
Derivative financial instruments TESmI A 32 2,270 =
Trade payables BB 2 BRK 34 2,456,170 2,711,383
Bills payable ANEY 35 1,613,341 1,869,391
Other payables and accruals EM N IE N ERHE B 36 1,397,636 1,456,679
Contract liabilities BHBE 37 1,041,577 564,883
Warranty provision REBERE 38 589,755 541,830
Tax liabilities WMIEAE 165,701 232,054
Lease liabilities HEBE 39 3,064 44
Amounts due to related parties JE A< BB 05 SR IE 52 30,057 25,088
Borrowings ==t 40 4,195,517 4,698,121
11,495,088 12,099,870
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEEMBRAE

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022
RZEB_—_F+_-_A=+—H

0 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T 1 AREEFIT
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEESRHE 1,552,276 1,501,470
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERTDAR
LIABILITIES 8,483,247 8,083,892
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEREE
Share capital A% 7R 42 74,704 74,704
Reserves H1E 5,819,442 5,523,236
Equity attributable to owners of the ARAREE ANEhER
Company 5,894,146 5,597,940
Non-controlling interests FEERR 53 916,160 782,745
TOTAL EQUITY amEs 6,810,306 6,380,685
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAMR
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE 26 10,000 20,877
Lease liabilities HEBE 39 9,996 4,022
Borrowings BE 40 1,427,050 1,451,348
Deferred income PRIEY A 41 225,895 226,960
1,672,941 1,703,207
8,483,247 8,083,892

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 223 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2023 and

are signed on its behalf by:

FLOF 2B EMBFMNGAUBRERERN S
FZA-t+tHESESHERRETIE

TIHESEAKRRE

RiZz

Zhou Mingming Yang Xinxin
FIBARA B
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF 3

82 Chaowei Power Holdings Limited /  Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FERRERR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_ T+ -_A=+—HIt&E

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

SARRAARENE

Equity

attributable

Statutory Share Exchange tonon-

Share Share surplus option FvTOCI Other translation  Retained controlling

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  reserves reserve  earnings  Subtotal interests
BATER
EERR ARf2E FARES
kx RHER HiEF WEMEE KERE ABEE  ERRG  REEY Mt BEER #it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ABRTE ARWTR ARRTT ABRTR AERTT ARMTR AEWTR AERKTRE ARWTR ARRTRT ABRMTR

(notei) (noteii)
(i) (Piii)

At T January 2022 W-Z--%-f-H 74,704 408,237 1,136,270 68,567 (21,273) 288,439 1,156 3,641,840 5,597,940 782,745 6,380,685
Profit for the year ERTE - - - - - - - M7181 M7,081 170,668 587,849
Other comprehensive income EREME AR

for the year N - - - (6,702) - (871) - (7,573) - (7,573)
Total comprehensiveincomefor — ERZERELSE

the year - - - - (6,702) - (871) 417,181 409,608 170,668 580,276
Dividend paidtoownersofthe  BRARAEAEARS

Company (note 16) (FtsE16) - - - - - - - @) @) - @)
Dividend declared to non-controlling  FIFEHEIRIER ERAL S

interests - - - - - - - - - (18,010) (18,010)
Deregistration of subsidiaries BB AR - - - - - - - - - (1,327) (1,327)
Capital contribution by FERERTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 9,084 9,084
Acquisition of additional interestsin ~ JREE KB A RIAVRSMERS

subsidiaries - - - - - (31,625) - - (31,625) (27,000) (58,625)
Transfer to reserves N - - 99,902 - - - - (99,902) - - -
At31 December 2022 W_E-%

+-R=1+-H 74,704 408,237 1,236,172 68,567 (27,975) 256,814 285 3,877,342 5,894,146 916,160 6,810,306

At T January 2021 W-E--%-f-H 74704 408237 1,032,169 66,235 21,79 297829 2437) 3337151 5,192,089 832515 6,024,604
Profit for the year ERNFIE - - - - - - - 516,269 516,269 18816 535,085
Other comprehensive income FREME ARG

for the year - - - - 526 - 3593 - 4119 - 4119
Total comprehensiveincomefor — ERZ AL

the year - - - - 526 - 3593 516,269 520388 18816 539,204
Dividend paidtoownersofthe  BRAAFEAEARS

Company - - - - - - - (107479) (107479) - (107479)
Dividend declared to non-controlling  [3EEEARIER B RIS

interests - - - - - - - - - (35451) (35451)
Recognition of equity-settled share ~ BERLARIERE R A

based payments ERBAH = = = 2332 = = = = 2332 = 2332
Capital contribution by FERERTA

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 201 201
Acquisition of additional interestsin -~ WRERHIB A RIAVEBIMER

subsidiaries = = = = = (9390) - - (9.390) 2359 (7,031)
Disposal of non-wholly owned HEFLEHEAR

subsidiaries (note 46) (BitsE46) - - - - - - - - - (37505) (37,505)
Transfer to reserves BARE - - 104,101 - - - - (104100 - - -
At 31 December 2021 W-E-—%

+-A=1-H 74704 408237 1,136.270 68567 21273) 283439 1,156 3,641,840 5,597,940 782,745 6,380,685
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

=

g F-% ¥ E-

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

qHZE
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

84

S+ —A=t+—HItFE

In accordance with the articles of association of all subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), those subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of profit after
taxation reported under the relevant accounting policies and financial regulations in the PRC
to the statutory surplus reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of their registered capital.
Transfer to this reserve must be made before distributing dividends to equity owners. The
statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up previous year’s losses, expand the existing
operations or convert into additional capital of the subsidiaries.

Other reserves are mainly arising from (i) the difference between the fair value of the
consideration paid/received and the carrying amount of the net assets acquired from/
disposed to the non-controlling shareholders; (i) debt waived by a related party; and (iii) paid-
in capital of Chaowei Power (as defined in note 53) transferred during the reorganisation
made on 9 March 2010.
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(i)

(if)

REBPTBEFEARLFIE ([F B ]) 3L BT8R RlAY
RAIETE  ZENE R RIAAEERE T EF &
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EfptEEEERE ()N ERRAELN AT EHE M
BRI SRR M & B B E R ERIEE A58 - (i) B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEeReTER
Sl e

0 2021
: —T_—F
000 RMB'000
= ARBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEEy
Profit before tax B B A 818,077 784,617
Adjustments for: REE
Interest income RSN ON (84,174) (74,201)
Finance costs BB 370,373 321,846
Share of result of joint ventures FEh B bERE (2,965) 1,987
Share of result of associates i)k NCIE (419) 3,160
Impairment losses on investments in associates REEE R AR A B EE S - 19,169
Impairment losses on investments in REEEENRERRERBE
joint ventures - 63,648
Dividend income from a joint venture KE—REZEREMREUWA (18,240) -
Inventories write down &R 4,908 7,401
Fair value losses on financial assets at FVTPL BAVEFABENSREER
NEEEER 35,011 57,578
Fair value loss (gain) on derivative PTESR T AN T EEE (W)
financial instruments (97,168) (116,467)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BERREEBR
plant and equipment 18,032 27,591
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEH B A B - (13,480)
Loss on disposal of investment property HEREYEEE - 18,109
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - B REREITE 665,826 662,774
Depreciation of investment properties REMETE 543 645
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets EEEBE KA 58,310 41,610
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEETE 18,382 14,000
Deferred government grant recognised B REREE BT (49,513) (51,1171)
(Reversal of) loss allowance recognised on: FLUA TN S IBHER A E1E (B ) B
— Trade receivables — RRE ZER 120,432 47,756
— Other receivables — HE e U IR 152,911 59,890
— Loan receivables — EIRER 6,059 =
— Amounts due from related parties — JEUR BN 5 R (26,310) 220,869
Equity-settled share based payments A RR # 45 5 DA R A B RE RO 1 5K - 2332
Operating cash flows before movements EELACEPINCERERE
in working capital 1,990,075 2,099,723
Increase in inventories FEEN (62,925) (704,925)
Increase in receivables, deposits and prepayments  FEUFRIA « & & K FAT FIEIE N (637,843) (1,036,230)
Decrease in amounts due from related parties JE WS B B T RO R 1,021 7423
(Decrease) increase in trade payable, bills payable, BT S8EXR - ENZHE -
other payable and accruals H i fE TR K FERT B
R 1N (568,687) 1,155,729
Increase in contract liabilities SHEEEMN 476,694 382,420
Increase in warranty provision {RIBE BN 47,925 57,590
Increase in amounts due to related parties JE {5 BB 7 R TEIE N 2,333 3,757
Cash generated from operations BEMRRE 1,248,593 1,965,487
Income tax paid BEASFTSH (358,011) (469,652)
Net cash from operating activities BETERGHERHE 890,582 1,495,835
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=1 Sy B
FEeEHERER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE_Z-_—"F+_A=+—HILFE

0 2021
g —E-—F
Notes 000 RMB'000
Bt eE = ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEED
Government grant towards purchase BB REN BT
of equipment 48,448 11,863
Interest received BIF S 86,112 68,628
Purchases of property, plant and BEYE  WENMERE
equipment (1,022,318) (888,207)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « BEKREERE
plant and equipment 145,219 119,894
Proceeds from disposal of M EREYEMSRIE
investment property - 19,654
Deposits paid for acquisition of WEEME - WE MR EATRE
property, plant and equipment (110,850) (82,426)
Net cash (outflow) inflow arising from WE—XNBARELANRS
acquisition of a subsidiary (R RAFEE 45 - (13,267)
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries I EH B A R TS RIE 46 - 44527
Investments in joint ventures RESRERIRE - (500)
Investment in associates REE R RRIIZE (2,006) (1.274)
Capital reduction from a joint venture —RAEELERE 4,560 -
Proceeds from dividend income KE—REEEENRIEBA
from a joint venture FR{S 338 18,240 =
Proceeds from disposal of interest HE—REeE L ERGAMEHIE
in a joint venture - 11,000
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BERATEFTABRN
TENEE - (367,368)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFET AEZRH
assets at FVTPL CRVEEMSRIE 56,562 370413
Deposits placed for investing in MRETE SR T EFEMATFER
derivative financial instruments (18,254) (194,000)
Restricted bank deposits SR HIERITE K 252,145 189,174
Payments of loan receivables FEME AT - (313)
Placement of deposits for borrowings FREEEZRS 18,754 36,082
Repayment from loan receivables FEME FE 3,000 =
Advances to related parties m) e 5 EA 5Kk (14,227) (15,184)
Repayment from related parties BT BIEFIE - 25,459
Net cash used in investing activities BB RETAREIFE (534,615) (665,845)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEeReTER
Sl e

0 2021
—E——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt R ARETT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Proceeds from borrowings EEmESIIE 4,171,219 3,687,826
Repayment of borrowings EREE (4,698,121) (3,707,814)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEEE (11,743) (4,498)
Interest paid BEATFIE (371,070) (350,170)
Dividends paid to the owners ERNAATHEEARE
of the Company (81,777) (107,479)
Dividends paid to EANE S E )
non-controlling interests (18,010) (35451)
Capital injection from FEERERFE
non-controlling interests 9,084 2,011
Acquisition of additional interest W —RHTB A R M RBIME RS
in a subsidiary (58,625) (7,031)
Deregister of non-wholly BURZMEZ EHTE A A
owned subsidiaries (1,327) -
Advance from related parties T B RaEE 5 B 2,636 7,054
Repayments to related parties M BAEE T B - (6,891)
Net cash used in financing activities BEERBFT AR FRE (1,057,734) (522,443)
Net (decrease) increase in RERBEESEM(RD)EBMBHE
cash and cash equivalents (701,767) 307,547
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ F#38 4 RIRELZED
of the year 2,860,613 2,552,548
Effects of exchange rate changes bE R E e (871) 518
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRAGRFSEFED  LIRT
of the year, represented by ERRASKT
bank balances and cash 2,157,975 2,860,613
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEHMBEHRRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BHE

1.

88

S+ —A=t+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chaowei Power Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 18 January 2010 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and its shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 7 July 2010. The
address of the registered office of the Company is P.O. Box 31119
Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1205 Cayman Islands, and the address of its principal place of
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is No.18,
Chengnan Road, Huaxi Industrial Function Area, Changxing County,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the Company and
most of its subsidiaries. The principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are manufacturing and sales of lead-
acid motive batteries, lithium-ion batteries and other related
products.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs"”)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time
for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendment to IFRS 16

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 16
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract
Annual Improvements to  Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
IFRSs 2018-2020 lllustrative Examples accompanying

IFRS 16, and IAS 41

(@) The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
business combinations that occurred on or after 1 January
2022. As there were no business combinations during the
year, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EEMBEHEMNE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from
selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by IAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of property,
plant and equipment made available for use on or after 1
January 2021. Since there was no sale of items produced prior
to the property, plant and equipment being available for use,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the cost of
fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to
the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include
both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to contracts for which yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts
were identified. Therefore, amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to /FRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the amendments
that are applicable to the Group are as follows:

2.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE_ T+ -_A=+—HIt&E

FE 3 % BT B B B 365 4 o5 6 R (T R B
P T 4R 5 HE AN 1) R B RT & (#8)

FEEEFENNHBERMEREENE
HESE )

(b)

B SFERIE 165 (BT A) EILE
RIEWE - BFE RERFBEB KATH
REEEAEEEEIEEEREN
B 77 A BT R RO 1 B OO B E AR Y
HEMMEREA Bk BEBNED
FRERLEZFHEE NAEHRIEAERR
B et EE 2R EEE £ EZ
FHEEHRA - AEERH T ——
F-A—BRzRAEERERND
X BERREEBEPERZEE
FIAR - N BEE G & RUE AT IR (R (E
RWE - BERREHELENHER -
L TS T A B A 6% B ) BE A5 IR 0 3K
RRWEERTE -

BB & ERIE 375 (BRI AR ) &5 -
AARBER G ERFE 7 RAE A
EEEBERIEME @ BITEHMKAK
BRESOERBABOKRAE - BEH
ERAENEBEEREETZA AHIE
EXRA(PINEERS T RME) RERE
TAE A ERMERREMRA DA (F20
DEBTTANMAYE  BEERE
EENTERXARGHNERHEEE
BRAR) o —MRBRITERARANEG DY EE
ERE RIESHARRRZHFW
E - DA EBERRESIN - AR E AT
M FEITAERAR T —_—
—A—HBHARBITER2BEENELD
BRARBRHEBRAN - Bt %F
EATAHARBOP BN KKRRL
BELFEATE -

EIPR B SR 2B — FE— \FFE = F
—EFEEEMEERY BRI ERE
XRS5 - BRI ISR E 2ERI 05 -
B % B 755 3R 45 E R 25 16 55 B B 2 & 451
MBI e 2R)5E 415 (BFTA) © @
BARAEBERNZ S BRI ANFBOT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEHMBEHRRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—HBIEE

2.

90

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (continued)

(d)  (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or
modified financial liability are substantially different from the
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only

those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,

including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the
amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022. As there was
no modification or exchange of the Group's financial liabilities

during the year, the amendment did not have any impact on

the financial position or performance of the Group.

New and amendment to IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that

have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to IFRS 16
IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17
Amendment to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts'

Insurance Contracts"*

Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 —
Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)>#
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the "2022 Amendments")?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction'
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendment to IFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
? No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
t As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020

Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

5 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in October 2020, IFRS 4
was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January
2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification

overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial application of IFRS 17

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or
non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement
of the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the 2022 Amendments
were issued to further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022
Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity that
classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current
when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that
applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendment to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities
to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an
effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group is
currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendment to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to |AS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date. In
addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did not
recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences for transactions related to leases. Upon initial
application of these amendments, the Group will recognise deferred
tax for all temporary differences related to leases at the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented. During the year, the
Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of
amendments to IAS 12. The Group has estimated that it will
recognise a deferred tax asset of RMB1,116,000 for deductible
temporary differences associated with lease liabilities and a deferred
tax liability of RMB1,120,000 for taxable temporary differences
associated with right-of-use assets, and recognise the cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to
retained profits at 1 January 2022.

Except for that has been disclosed above, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEHMBEHRRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

94

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The Directors have, at the time of approving the consolidated
financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EEMBEHEMNE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 16 and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are lowest level inputs that are significant
to the fair value measurement, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are lowest level inputs that are significant
to the fair value measurement, that are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

96

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EEMBEHEMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE—_Z-_—F#+-_A=+—RIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. BEGFSUEERRNHEERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BHBCE (48)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 FE®ATEEK ()

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under IFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

98

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction- by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially
all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable
assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting
from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to
be a business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to the
identifiable assets and liabilities, which are initially measured
at an amount other than cost, at the amount specified in the
applicable standard, the remaining balance of the purchase
price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of
purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses, other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12
Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in IFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEHMBEHRRRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BHE

3.

100

S+ —A=t+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non- controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EEMBEHEMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE—_Z-_—F#+-_A=+—RIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSUMBRENELERIES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BBk (48)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EEEFHBE (1)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions (continued) EBEOIKIEEE (8)
Business combinations (continued) HEELG(E)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed
directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
HE-_ZE-—F+-A=+—HBIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

102

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any, and is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the
cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating
units) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.
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3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EEMBEHEMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
BE—_Z-_—F#+-_A=+—RIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSHMESERNEERTES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BB (48)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 FE®ATBR (W)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate or joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the current period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EEMBEHEMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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RUGSMERRNEERETRS
Bt (48)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EEEFHBE (1)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of IFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of
goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are
substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A receivable represents the Group'’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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EEMBEHEMNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

BE_ T+ -_A=+—HIt&E

RUGSMERRNEERETRS
Bt (#8)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 EEEFHBE (1)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain
customers once the quantity of products purchased during
the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract.
Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the customer.
To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts
with a single-volume threshold and the expected value
method for contracts with more than one volume threshold.
The selected method that best predicts the amount of variable
consideration is primarily driven by the number of volume
thresholds contained in the contract. The requirements on
constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied
and a refund liability for the expected future rebates is
recognised.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLI